The Wild Male Mink as a Sentinel for Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals and Reproductive Toxicity

Sara Persson

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Clinical Sciences Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2013 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2013:65

Cover: Mink with fish at Vallentunasjön, 9th of April 2007 (photo: Tommy Glandin)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-7868-3 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-7869-0 © 2013 Sara Persson, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2013 The Wild Male Mink as a Sentinel for Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals and Reproductive Toxicity

Abstract

Increasing evidence indicates that pollutants may affect the hormone system of humans and wildlife. These endocrine-disrupting chemicals are related to an increased risk of a variety of diseases and disorders, including adverse effects on the reproductive system. By using a sentinel wildlife species, an early warning of adverse health effects due to pollutants in the environment may be provided. This is also relevant for humans, as wildlife and humans can be exposed to similar mixtures of pollutants.

With this in mind, the aim of this thesis is to investigate the possibility of establishing the wild mink (Neovison vison) as a sentinel species in Sweden, for both exposure to pollutants and effects of pollutants on the reproductive system. Mink were collected from local hunters and necropsies were performed focusing on the male reproductive system. The collected mink provided an insight in how to handle the variation in data due to sample season, age and nutritional status. These factors significantly influenced many, but not all, of the concentrations of chlorinated, brominated and perfluorinated compounds and also some reproductive organ variables. In addition, the results offer information on how to optimize the design of future studies, and some baseline data for reproductive organ measurements were compiled. Considerable concentrations of PCBs were found in some areas and the concentrations of PFOS were among the highest ever recorded in mink. Associations were found between measurements on the reproductive organs and pollutant concentrations. The anogenital distance was inversely associated with concentrations of some perfluoroalkyl acids and DDE. Several associations were also found between some PCB congeners and measurements on the penis and baculum.

In conclusion, the wild mink males may serve as an indicator for environmental exposure to pollutants in Sweden. In addition, the wild mink seems to be a suitable sentinel species that may provide an early warning of alterations in the male reproductive organs related to environmental pollution.

Keywords: Endocrine disrupting chemicals, mink, male reproduction, PCB, PBDE, perfluoroalkyl acids, PFOS, DDE, anogenital distance, penis, baculum

Author's address: Sara Persson, SLU, Department of Clinical Sciences, P.O. Box 7054, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Sara.Persson@ slu.se The choice, after all, is ours to make

Rachel Carson, Silent spring (1963)

Contents

List	of Publications	7
Abb	reviations	8
1	Introduction	9
1.1	Endocrine disruption of the male reproductive system in mammals	10
1.2	Environmental contaminants and their effects on the male reproduct	ive
	system	11
	1.2.1 Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)	11
	1.2.2 Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs)	12
	1.2.3 Dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane (DDT)	12
	1.2.4 Hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	13
	1.2.5 Chlordane	13
	1.2.6 Perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs)	13
1.3	Reproduction and reproductive toxicity in the mink	14
1.4	The wild mink as a sentinel species	15
2	Aims	19
3	Methodological considerations	21
3.1	Collection of mink	21
3.2	Selection of sample areas	21
3.3	Necropsies	22
3.4	Analysis of contaminants	23
3.5	Statistical analysis	24
4	Main results and discussion	25
4.1	Measurements of the reproductive system of wild male mink	25
4.2	Contaminant levels in wild male mink	26
4.3	Influence of age, season and nutritional status on the reproductive	
	system and contaminant concentrations	28
	4.3.1 Age variability	28
	4.3.2 Seasonal variability	29
	4.3.3 Variability due to changes in nutritional status	30
4.4	Variability in contaminant concentrations between and within sampli	ng
	areas	30

4.5	Associations between contaminant concentrations and the reproduct system in the mink	tive 31
5	Conclusions	33
6	Future perspectives	35
7	Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	37
Refer	ences	39
Ackn	owledgements	53

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Persson, S., Bäcklin, B.-M., Kindahl, H., Brunström, B. & Magnusson, U. (2011). Influence of age, nutritional status and season on the reproductive system in wild male mink (*Neovison vison*). *European Journal of Wildlife Research* 57(5), 1057-1063.
- II Persson, S., Rotander, A., van Bavel, B., Brunström, B., Bäcklin, B.-M. & Magnusson, U. (2013). Influence of age, season, body condition and geographical area on concentrations of chlorinated and brominated contaminants in wild mink (*Neovison vison*) in Sweden. *Chemosphere* 90(5), 1664-1671.
- III Persson, S., Rotander, A., Kärrman, A., van Bavel, B. & Magnusson, U. (2013). Perfluoroalkyl acids in subarctic wild male mink (*Neovison vison*) in relation to age, season and geographical area. *Environment International* 59, 425-430.
- IV Persson, S., & Magnusson, U. Environmental pollutants and alterations in the reproductive system in wild male mink (*Neovison vison*) from Sweden (manuscript).

7

Papers I-III are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

Abbreviations

DDE	Dichloro-diphenyl-dichloroethylene
DDT	Dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane
EDC	Endocrine disrupting chemical
HCB	Hexachlorobenzene
MeO-PBDE	Methoxylated PBDE
PBDE	Polybrominated diphenyl ethers
PCB	Polychlorinated biphenyls
PFAA	Perfluoroalkyl acid
PFBS	Perfluorobutane sulfonate
PFDA	Perfluorodecanoic acid
PFHxS	Perfluorohexane sulfonate
PFNA	Perfluorononaoic acid
PFOS	Perfluorooctane sulfonate
PFUnDA	Perfluoroundecanoic acid

1 Introduction

The number of new chemicals that are synthesized and marketed has increased exponentially since the 1960's (Binetti *et al.*, 2008). Chemicals can be found in the environment all over the world, in wildlife and in humans. Some of these chemicals are toxic and may interfere with the hormonal system of the body, so called endocrine-disrupting chemicals (EDCs). There is increasing evidence that EDCs play an important role in the adverse effects on for example reproduction, thyroid function and the immune system that have been observed in wildlife and/or in humans (Diamanti-Kandarakis *et al.*, 2009; WHO/UNEP, 2013).

Effects of endocrine disruptors on the reproductive system of wildlife were recognized first during the 1950s and 60s (Markey *et al.*, 2002). In Sweden, the reproductive success of the grey seal, the otter and the white-tailed sea eagle declined from the 1950s, and was associated with high levels of PCB and DDT (Roos *et al.*, 2012). After these chemicals were banned, the levels have slowly decreased and the populations have recovered due to improved reproduction.

Wildlife and humans are not exposed to one individual chemical at a time, but to mixtures of chemicals, prenatally and throughout life. Chemicals may act together, often in a dose-additive way (Kortenkamp, 2007). In experiments on rats, it has been shown that mixtures of chemicals can induce male reproductive tract malformations even if the individual chemical does not lead to observable effects at that dose (Rider *et al.*, 2009). To further complicate matters, hormones and EDCs can act at very low concentrations, and the responses can be non-monotonic (Vandenberg *et al.*, 2012). In other words, the effect of an EDC may be observed at both low and high concentrations, but not at intermediate concentrations (U-shaped dose-response curve) or vice versa.

Studies on laboratory animals can provide mechanistic information that help understand the effects of EDCs on wildlife (Gray *et al.*, 1998) and also test the hypotheses generated in the field (Colborn, 1994). However, in order to understand the effects of mixtures of EDCs, studying laboratory animals on a

chemical-by-chemical basis will not suffice (Colborn, 1994). In this case, studying wildlife is advantageous as a mixture of relevant chemicals and concentrations is already present. In a recent report from the World Health Organization it was stated that

"wildlife are important sentinels for human male reproductive health as they are more easily sampled and live in direct contact with similar or the same complex mixtures of anthropogenic environmental contaminants to which humans are exposed" (WHO/UNEP, 2013).

1.1 Endocrine disruption of the male reproductive system in mammals

The complex physiology of the reproductive system is regulated by a number of hormones. In the male, androgens are crucial for the development of the male reproductive organs and for supporting spermatogenesis (Bhasin, 1999). Leydig cells in the testicles produce mainly testosterone, while the cortical cells of the adrenals produce androstenedione and other androgens (Robaire, 1999). Testosterone can be converted into a more potent form, dihydrotestosterone, in several different locations in the body (reviewed by Marchetti & Barth, 2013).Testosterone can also be aromatized into estrogen, another important steroid for spermatogenesis and male fertility (reviewed by Carreau *et al.*, 2003).

The production, receptor binding or metabolism of hormones may be disrupted by exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals (Diamanti-Kandarakis *et al.*, 2009). Exposure to EDCs during the fetal or neonatal period may alter the functions of the reproductive organs in the adult (McLachlan et al., 1975; Norgil Damgaard et al., 2002; Newbold et al., 2006) or could possibly influence the onset of puberty (reviewed by Magnusson & Ljungvall, 2013). In the rat, there is a fixed masculinization programming window during gestational day 15.5 to 19.5, during which exposure to anti-androgens reduces the anogenital distance and induces hypospadias, cryptorchidism and testicular malformations (Carruthers & Foster, 2005; Welsh et al., 2008). There are similarities between the effects seen in prenatally exposed rats and the disorders associated with the testicular dysgenesis syndrome (TDS) in humans (Fisher, 2004). The TDS hypothesis was formulated as declining sperm counts and increased incidence of testicular germ cell cancer, cryptorchidism and hypospadias in boys and men seemed to have common risk factors. They were therefore proposed to all be symptoms of the same condition (Skakkebæk et al., 2001), and exposure to EDCs may be one of many causes (Sharpe & Skakkebaek, 2008).

Although fetal exposure to chemicals can cause these adverse effects, androgen action after birth is also important for the development of the reproductive organs. For example, disruption of androgen action during the masculinization-programming window reduces penis size and anogenital distance in rats, but in combination with postnatal exposure to anti-androgens, these parameters are reduced even further (MacLeod *et al.*, 2010).

1.2 Environmental contaminants and their effects on the male reproductive system

This section gives a brief overview of the contaminants analyzed in this thesis; the use, the overall time trends of levels found in biota (with focus on Sweden) and their potential impact on male reproduction. Most of the chlorinated and brominated contaminants in this thesis are either banned or under restriction in Europe. For example, the PCBs, chlordane, hexachlorobenzene (HCB), perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), DDT and some of the brominated flame retardants (PBDEs) are listed as persistent environmental pollutants (POPs) by the UN through the Stockholm Convention, an international environmental treaty with 172 parties (The Stockholm Convention, 2010). After legislation, most of the contaminant levels in the Swedish environment have decreased, although slowly. For example, in the Swedish contaminant monitoring programme in marine biota, the yearly decrease in PCB, DDE and HCB has been approximately 2-11% per year. The PBDEs show both decreasing and inconsistent trends and no decrease has been observed for PFOS (Bignert *et al.*, 2012).

1.2.1 Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)

PCBs were used in many different industrial and commercial applications, such as electrical equipment, paints and heat- and pressure-transfer fluids (Voogt & Brinkman, 1989). In 1966, the Swedish chemist Sören Jensen found very high concentrations of an unknown contaminant in wildlife tissues and identified it as PCB (Jensen, 1972). Production and (new) use of PCB was banned in Sweden in the early seventies (Jensen, 1972), and production in other countries ceased during the 70s and 80s (Voogt & Brinkman, 1989) and came to an end in the 90s (Breivik *et al.*, 2002). There are 209 different PCB congeners, having different numbers and positions of chlorine atoms. Some congeners are dioxin-like and will bind to the aryl hydrocarbon (Ah) receptor (Van den Berg *et al.*, 1998), while others are estrogenic (Soto *et al.*, 1995), anti-androgenic or anti-estrogenic (Bonefeld-Jørgensen *et al.*, 2001). In rats, examples of adverse

effects due to PCB exposure are reduced weight of reproductive organs and testosterone levels (Sager, 1983; Faqi *et al.*, 1998a; Hany *et al.*, 1999). Also, decreased sperm production and increased abnormal sperm morphology have been reported in rats (Faqi *et al.*, 1998b; Hsu *et al.*, 2007). The latter has also been observed in young men accidentally exposed to PCBs and dibenzofurans *in utero* (Guo *et al.*, 2000).

1.2.2 Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs)

PBDEs are used as flame retardants in, for example, textiles, electronics and furniture (Alaee et al., 2003). Like the PCBs, they are lipophilic and the congeners have different numbers and positions of bromine atoms (Rahman et al., 2001). PBDE 47 is often the most predominant congener in fish-eating birds and mammals (de Wit, 2002). The commercial mixture penta-PBDE consists mainly of PBDE 47 and PBDE 99, whereas the predominant congeners in the octa-PBDE formulation are PBDE 183 and PBDE 209 (La Guardia et al., 2006). Both of these mixtures are listed as POPs. They were banned in the European Union in 2004, and in 2005 the production in the USA was stopped - but deca-PBDE is still used in many countries (de Wit et al., 2010). Deca-PBDE consists mainly of PBDE 209 (La Guardia et al., 2006). The penta-PBDE mixture (DE-71) has been shown to inhibit binding of the androgen receptor (Stoker et al., 2005) and delay male puberty in rats (Stoker et al., 2004; Kodavanti et al., 2010). In addition, PBDEs seem to affect sperm function and/or spermatogenesis in rats (Kuriyama et al., 2005), mice (Tseng et al., 2006) and men (Abdelouahab et al., 2011).

Methoxylated PBDEs (MeO-PBDEs) have been found in marine mammals (Verreault *et al.*, 2005; Rotander *et al.*, 2012). The origin of MeO-PBDEs is not completely clarified, but there are indications that they are mainly of natural origin and probably not metabolites of PBDEs (Teuten *et al.*, 2005; Teuten & Reddy, 2007; Rotander *et al.*, 2012). It seems that biomagnification through the food chain could explain some of the presence in wildlife (Kelly *et al.*, 2008; Jaspers *et al.*, 2013). Structural analogs of PBDEs (MeO-PBDEs and OH-PBDEs) are potentially endocrine disruptors (reviewed by Wiseman *et al.*, 2011). For example, some MeO-PBDEs have been seen to increase testosterone production in a human adrenocortical carcinoma cell line (He *et al.*, 2008).

1.2.3 Dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane (DDT)

DDT was initially used as an insecticide in the 1940s, and it was later used in large quantities for the control of agricultural and forest pests. DDT was banned in many countries in the 70s and 80s, mainly because of the adverse

effects on wildlife (Turusov *et al.*, 2002). However, it is still used to control malaria in several African and Asian countries (WHO, 2012). P'p-dichlorodiphenyl-dichloroethylene (DDE) is the major metabolite of DDT and the predominant DDT-related compound in biota. While DDT is considered to have estrogenic effects (Bitman & Cecil, 1970), DDE is considered to be an anti-androgen and in studies on rats, reductions in anogenital distance, testicle weight and number of sperm have been observed (Kelce *et al.*, 1995; Loeffler & Peterson, 1999; Wolf *et al.*, 1999) In addition, DDT exposure has been associated with impaired seminal parameters in men (Ayotte *et al.*, 2001; De Jager *et al.*, 2006; Aneck-Hahn *et al.*, 2007).

1.2.4 Hexachlorobenzene (HCB)

HCB was used as a fungicide and in different applications in industry, but was banned subsequently in different countries from the 1960s up until 2000s (Barber *et al.*, 2005). HCB binds weakly to the Ah receptor and could therefore be classified as a dioxin-like compound (Hahn *et al.*, 1989; Birgelen, 1998). Binding of dioxin to the Ah receptor causes disruption of the development of the male reproductive system (Gray *et al.*, 1995). Moreover, HCB partially agonizes androgen action in the prostate in low doses, but interferes with androgen action in high doses (Ralph *et al.*, 2003).

1.2.5 Chlordane

Technical chlordane is an organochlorine pesticide mixture with up to 120 components, for example cis-chlordane, trans-chlordane, heptachlor and transnonachlordane (Dearth & Hites, 1991). Metabolism of technical chlordane results in oxychlordane and heptachlorepoxide (Tashiro & Matsumura, 1978; Brimfield & Street, 1979). In Sweden, the use of technical chlordane was banned in 1971 (KIFS, 2008:3), but it was not extensively used prior to the ban (Cato, 2008). Chlordane has been found to be a weak anti-androgen *in vitro* (Lemaire *et al.*, 2004) and has been shown to induce testicular lesions in mice (Balash *et al.*, 1987). In addition, it has been suggested that chlordane is associated with testicular germ cell tumors in men (Hardell *et al.*, 2003; Purdue *et al.*, 2009).

1.2.6 Perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs)

Poly- and perfluoroalkyl acids have been widely used in products such as textiles, paper, fire-fighting foams and paints but also a variety of other applications – and many are still in use (Lindstrom *et al.*, 2011). Perfluorinated means that all hydrogens on all carbon atoms in an alkyl chain have been replaced with fluorine, for example perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), that

consists of a chain of eight carbons (Buck *et al.*, 2011). PFOS is the predominant PFAA in wildlife and seems to be the most bioaccumulative (Houde *et al.*, 2011), although PFAAs with longer chains also seem to have a high bioaccumulation potential (Conder *et al.*, 2008). Consequently, the production has shifted from PFOS towards short chain PFAAs such as perfluorobutane sulfonate, PFBS (3M, 2000), which seems to be less toxic than PFOS (Lieder *et al.*, 2009). However, PFOS is still produced in China (Zhang *et al.*, 2012). PFAAs appear to have the ability to affect both Leydig cells (Cook *et al.*, 1992; Biegel *et al.*, 1995) and Sertoli cells (Qiu *et al.*, 2013) *in vivo.* They also affect the estrogen and androgen receptors *in vitro* (Kjeldsen & Bonefeld-Jørgensen, 2013) and may reduce the expression of growth hormone receptors in the testis (Yeung *et al.*, 2011). Feeding PFOS to adult mice resulted in lower serum concentrations of testosterone and epididymal sperm counts (Wan *et al.*, 2011).

1.3 Reproduction and reproductive toxicity in the mink

The mink is a seasonal breeder with mating occurring in late February and March (Enders, 1952), or, for wild mink in southern Sweden, March or occasionally early April (Gerell, 1971). Female mink are induced ovulators and shortly after fertilization, the development of the embryo is arrested (Hansson, 1947). The female may then mate with another male and give birth to kits from two ovulations (Enders, 1952). After a period of delayed development, the increasing day length during spring stimulates the production of prolactin which in turn initiates implantation (Sundqvist *et al.*, 1989) in the beginning of April (Enders, 1952). The kits are then born in the beginning of May (Hansson, 1947). Litter size in wild mink has been observed to be on average 3-4 (Mitchell, 1961; Gerell, 1971; Sidorovich, 1993). The kits are looked after by the female up until late summer or early autumn when juvenile dispersal starts (Gerell, 1970; Bonesi & Macdonald, 2004). However, the female can occasionally allow the juveniles to linger in her home range for some time (Mitchell, 1961).

Mink reproduction follows an annual cycle. During autumn, the decreasing day length stimulates the secretion of follicle stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone (Martinet *et al.*, 1992). This, in turn, stimulates the production of androgens and estrogen by the gonads and an increased weight of the ovary and testis during autumn and winter can be observed (Pilbeam *et al.*, 1979). In males, testosterone peaks in January and then falls abruptly in early February (Sundqvist *et al.*, 1984), just before the breeding season. Spermatozoa are generally present in the epididymis by the end of February

(Onstad, 1967). After the breeding season, testosterone concentrations continue to decrease (Nieschlag & Bieniek, 1975) and the testicles regress and remain very small and inactive until autumn (Onstad, 1967).

In the 1960s, domesticated mink in the USA experienced poor reproductive performance and it was discovered that it was caused by feeding the mink PCB-contaminated fish (Aulerich *et al.*, 1971; Aulerich *et al.*, 1973). Mink were found to be very sensitive to PCBs (Bleavins *et al.*, 1980). Feeding female mink PCB-contaminated fish (that could also contain other chemicals) or commercial mixtures of PCB results in reduced kit survivability, reduced kit body weight, lower whelping rates and decreased litter size (Aulerich *et al.*, 1971; Aulerich *et al.*, 1973; Bleavins *et al.*, 1980; Hornshaw *et al.*, 1983; Kihlström *et al.*, 1992; Heaton *et al.*, 1995; Restum *et al.*, 1998; Brunström *et al.*, 2001; Bursian *et al.*, 2006; Beckett *et al.*, 2008). The reduced whelping rate is probably attributed to early and/or late fetal death due to lesions in the maternal vessels in the placenta (Bäcklin & Bergman, 1992; Bäcklin *et al.*, 1998)

Similar adverse effects have been observed in mink fed heptachlor (Crum *et al.*, 1993), HCB (Rush *et al.*, 1983; Bleavins *et al.*, 1984), polybrominated biphenyls (Aulerich & Ringer, 1979), PBDEs (Zhang *et al.*, 2009) and also in mink fed thyroid glands and diethylstilbestrol (reviewed by Aulerich & Bursian, 1996). In contrast, these parameters were not affected when exposing mink to DDT and its metabolites (Aulerich & Ringer, 1970; Jensen *et al.*, 1977).

1.4 The wild mink as a sentinel species

A sentinel species, sometimes referred to as a surrogate or an indicator species, is an organism that can be studied in place of other organisms for various reasons, or used to gather information about the environment it lives in, for example level of pollution. Sentinels may provide an early warning of potential health risks before human populations are affected (Van der Schalie *et al.*, 1999).

O'Brien et al (1993) listed a number of criteria for choosing a good sentinel species. For example, it should be able to accumulate contaminants to levels that reflect the local contamination in space and time, i.e. not be a migratory species. It should also be omnivorous and of a high trophic level, and the route of exposure should be similar to that of humans. Ideally it is sensitive to pollutants and similar enough to humans to be able to make comparisons of health effects. The possibility of studying it in captivity is advantageous, as this could confirm findings from the field. In addition, the time from exposure to

appearance of subsequent effects should be short, so that an early warning may be identified.

Knowledge about wild mink biology is quite extensive (Gerell, 1972; Dunstone, 1993). Since it has been farmed for its fur for many years, its reproduction has been the subject of many studies (Hansson, 1947; Enders, 1952; Sundqvist et al., 1988; Sundqvist et al., 1989). Information is also available on mink disease and toxicology (Hunter & Lemieux, 1996), basic physiology (Aulerich et al., 1999) and anatomy (Klingener, 1979). Toxicological data from mink studies have been suggested to be a useful complement in risk-assessment for human exposures (Calabrese et al., 1992). The mink is a top predator that feeds mainly on fish, but also cravfish, frogs, birds, rodents and insects (Gerell, 1967b). This means that the mink is presumably highly exposed to contaminants that biomagnify in the food chain, as contaminants often end up in the aquatic environment. Due to the choice of prey and the fact that the home range of the mink is always close to some sort of body of water, the mink is often said to be semi-aquatic (which in other words means that it may be considered semi-terrestrial). The home range of the mink is relatively small, on average 2.5 km along a shore-line in a Swedish habitat (Gerell, 1970). An unequal amount of time is spent in the different parts of the home range, and mink tend to spend most time in core areas that are richer in dens and prey (Dunstone, 1993; Halliwell & Macdonald, 1996). The limited area in which a mink resides means that concentrations of contaminants found in mink reflect local pollution (Wren et al., 1986; Foley et al., 1988).

Mink originate from North America but have been introduced in many other parts of the world. There are many established populations in different countries in Europe (Bonesi & Palazon, 2007), but also in east Russia (Dunstone, 1993), Japan (Ooi *et al.*, 1992), and south Chile (Ibarra *et al.*, 2009). In Sweden, the mink was introduced during the 1930s and soon spread all over the country (Gerell, 1967a). An estimated amount of 11 500 mink were hunted in 2007/2008 (Viltforum, 2009); thus, collecting sufficient amounts of samples is realistic. In Sweden, the mink is mostly hunted for protective measures, rather than trapped for its fur, as it can do substantial damage to populations of birds (Roos & Amcoff, 2010). As the mink is considered to be an invasive species, legislation permits hunting all-year round in unlimited numbers (Ministry for Rural Affairs, (1987:905)), which facilitates sampling for monitoring purposes. Moreover, in other European countries mink carcasses should be relatively easy to collect as it is often hunted, for example to protect populations of the European mink (Bonesi & Palazon, 2007) or for

the protection of its prey (Bonesi *et al.*, 2007). In Northern America, where the mink originates, it is often trapped for its fur (Basu *et al.*, 2007).

In summary, the mink fulfills many of the basic criteria for a good sentinel species. The wild mink has previously been studied for assessment of wildlife exposure to contaminants (Martin et al., 2004; Kannan et al., 2005; reviewed by Basu *et al.*, 2007) and domesticated mink have been used for toxicological studies (Aulerich & Bursian, 1996; Fox, 2001). However, the use of wild mink as a sentinel for health effects has been rare (Harding *et al.*, 1999; Basu *et al.*, 2005), but the mink has been singled out as a good species for this purpose (Basu *et al.*, 2007). In general, when using a wild sentinel species for studies on the health effects of contaminants, ecological and biological factors need to be separated out so that the risk associated with EDCs may be identified (Lister & Van Der Kraak, 2001).

2 Aims

The overall objective of this thesis is to investigate the possibly of establishing the wild mink as a sentinel for environmental pollution and the effects thereof on the reproductive system. Monitoring possible effects rather than exposure has the advantage that it enables surveillance of additive and synergistic effects attributed to the complex mixture of chemicals found in the environment. This thesis also addresses the importance of handling the variation found in field data, as this may facilitate future sampling and study design for the assessment of contaminant-related health effects. The specific aims were:

- To study parts of the reproductive system in wild male mink that may be suitable for screening and/or monitoring in the field
- To describe the variation in the reproductive system and study the influence of age, sample season and nutritional status on the concentrations
- To describe the variation in concentrations of chlorinated, brominated and fluorinated contaminants analyzed and study the influence of age, sample season and nutritional status
- Characterize the differences in exposure between and within the four sample areas
- Investigate possible associations between tissue concentrations of contaminants and a range of variables of the reproductive system in wild male mink

3 Methodological considerations

3.1 Collection of mink

Collection of mink carcasses started in autumn 2006, when mink from all over Sweden were gathered for the initial study on reproduction (paper I). Local hunters were asked to send in mink that they caught during their regular hunting. Frozen carcasses were used, as the aim was to collect many mink from distant locations in a time-efficient manner. In order to collect fresh carcasses, hunting with dogs, live traps or trap guards are needed, which is not always possible or demands a lot more work in the field in order to cover a wide geographical area. Using frozen carcasses is a practical procedure for the hunter (and the person doing the autopsies), as the hunter could freeze trapped mink sequentially and then send in all the carcasses at the same time.

The majority of the collected mink were male, so therefore we chose to focus on male reproduction. A skewed sex ratio is expected when using traps, probably a result of the more limited home ranges of the females (Buskirk & Lindstedt, 1989).

3.2 Selection of sample areas

In order to sample mink with presumed differences in exposure, the sampling focused on four areas (papers II-IV). One area is located on the coast of the Baltic Sea, which is relatively heavily polluted by industry (the Gävle area). Another coastal area in the west of Sweden was also chosen as the exposure was expected to differ from that in the Baltic Sea (the Koster Islands area, 2 km off the mainland). In an attempt to find mink from rural areas, samples from the northern part of Sweden were collected. In addition, an area just

outside Stockholm was chosen, as it could reflect both the urban and agricultural surroundings (the Märsta area). A map and more detailed information of the areas are found in paper III.

There are no mink farms situated in these four areas. Proximity to mink farms should be considered when choosing the sample area (Basu et al., 2009), since escaped domestic mink may bias the sample (Bowman & Schulte-Hostedde, 2009). In Sweden, all mink farms must be properly fenced and maintained in order to prevent escapees (NSF, (2009:10)). However, there could be occasional escapees, and mink are sometimes released by so-called animal rights activists. Kidd et al (2009) did not identify any domesticated mink in two presumably wild populations in Canada (40 km from the nearest mink farm), but some hybrids could be found (6/50 in total). Tentatively, this could serve as an indication of how far away the sample area has to be in order to avoid domesticated mink during sampling. The closest mink farm to the Koster area was 66 km away (and the next 120 km away). The farmer states that a maximum of ten mink managed to escape when the farm was active (from the 80's to 2010) (S-O Bandgren, personal communication). Thus it is not likely that escapees are common in the Koster population. The Gävle area lies approximately 110-120 km from the nearest farm, although this farm was closed down in 2008. The closest farms to the Märsta area and sampling sites in the northern parts of Sweden are at least 160-170 km away.

3.3 Necropsies

Necropsies were performed on newly thawed carcasses. As an indicator of long term nutritional status, the subcutaneous fat on the ventral part of the abdomen between the hind legs was weighed and divided by body weight. This fat pad is actually often the only subcutaneous fat present and it is quickly and easily removed. The epididymis was separated from the testis. The penis was cut off where it enters the pelvis and the length and weight were measured as well as the length of the baculum. In this way, the somewhat time-consuming work of opening the pelvis was avoided, which may be desirable when handling large numbers of carcasses. In a pilot study, the mean coefficient of variation was calculated for length measurements, and the variation was found to be low (1.0-3.1%) (Persson, 2007).

The large variation in prostate size was somewhat challenging, as the outline of this accessory gland is almost undetectable in juveniles caught in early autumn. The difficulties in finding a standardized way of measuring the size made us discard it from the protocol. However, the prostate is an

interesting organ as it is a target for EDCs (see review by Prins, 2008) and should not be overlooked when assessing male reproduction.

During necropsy, great care was taken to ensure that free-ranging farmed mink were avoided by examining fur color (and quality) and body size. Male mink in farms mostly weigh over 2 kg, some even exceeding 3 kg (Korhonen & Niemelä, 1998; Socha *et al.*, 2010), which is considerably larger than wild mink (approximately 1 kg, paper II). The larger body size of farmed mink can be partly explained by a larger fat deposit, but also because farmed mink have been selectively bred for body size (Lagerkvist *et al.*, 1993).

Age was determined by tooth cementum analysis at Matson's laboratory (Milltown, Montana, USA). This laboratory is experienced in ageing mink, and they state that most species (including mink) should be aged with an accuracy of 70% and 90% within 1 year of the correct age. The reliability of the age determination on our mink was rated as high for 92.6% of the samples, meaning that the teeth sections nearly match those of the standardized cementum aging model. Ageing is performed by counting the darker annular rings formed during winter.

3.4 Analysis of contaminants

Analyses of contaminants were performed by MTM Research Centre at Örebro University, Sweden (papers II-IV). Brominated and chlorinated compounds were analyzed in subcutaneous fat, as these lipophilic compounds accumulate in adipose tissue. Gas chromatography and low-resolution mass spectrometry were used, after elution of lipids with hexane/dichloromethane (1:1, v/v) and sample clean-up using a multi-layer silica column (for details see paper II).

The PCBs were of interest as the mink is known to be sensitive to them. Of the dioxin-like PCBs, several mono-*ortho*-substituted PCBs were analyzed (PCB 114, 105, 118, 156, 157 and 189). The three coplanar dioxin-like PCB congeners (PCB 77, 126 and 169) were not analyzed. The brominated flame retardants (PBDEs) were also of great interest due to their potential effects. In addition, the deca-PBDEs are still in use in many parts of the world and are debrominated in the environment into penta-PBDEs (Söderström *et al.*, 2004; Stapleton *et al.*, 2006). Perfluorinated alkyl acids were considered as especially interesting to study, since high concentrations had been noticed in otter from Sweden (Järnberg U, 2008) and the general knowledge of levels in wildlife is limited.

For the PFAAs, liver tissue was used for analysis, as high levels often are found in this organ (Ishibashi *et al.*, 2008; Ahrens *et al.*, 2009). Unlike the organochlorine and organobromine compounds, PFAAs are not lipophilic but

tend to bind to proteins, for example liver fatty acid binding protein and serum albumin (Luebker *et al.*, 2002; Jones *et al.*, 2003), which are situated or produced in the liver. PFAAs were extracted with acetonitrile, and the solution was put through a WAX solid phase cartridge. The analysis was then performed using a UPLC coupled to a MS/MS mass spectrometer (for details see paper III). As the samples were transported and analyzed in two batches with approximately one year in between; differences between the batches were investigated, but no differences were found.

3.5 Statistical analysis

Multiple linear regression was used as it is an established statistical method for modelling the relationship between one single outcome variable of interest that may be associated with, or depend on, more than one predictor variable. All models were built manually. Least square means (LSmeans) were used when pairwise comparisons between groups were made. LSmeans (or marginal means), are within-group means adjusted for the independent variables in the model, and are often used in unbalanced designs (SAS, 2003). Controlling the pairwise comparisons of LSmeans for Type I errors ("false positive") with for example Bonferroni or Tukey adjustment usually increases the risk for Type II errors ("false negative") (Rothman, 1990). Therefore, it was decided to keep the results unadjusted as the objective of these studies was to unravel all possible influences of environmental and biological factors (papers I-III). The results should be interpreted with this in mind.

To summarize and visualize the variation of chemical concentrations between the four sample areas (papers II-III), multivariate analysis using principal component analysis (PCA) was performed. PCA is suitable for data with many variables, even if they are highly collinear, and it describes the correlation structure so that related observations or variables can be indentified (Eriksson *et al.*, 2006).

4 Main results and discussion

4.1 Measurements of the reproductive system of wild male mink

The reproductive system of wild male mink was studied in order to find robust measurements that could possibly be used for assessments in environmental monitoring and to generate some baseline data (paper I). Frozen carcasses were used, but some baseline data are probably applicable for fresh carcasses as well. Baculum length and the anogenital distance will most likely be relatively unaffected by either freezing or some decomposition.

A low frequency of miscellaneous lesions of the reproductive tracts was found during the necropsies (paper IV), and some of these have been described in studies on domestic mink (Onstad, 1967; Sundqvist, 1987). However, three out of 35 mink from the same area (the Koster area, on the west coast) were cryptorchid. This percentage was somewhat higher than expected when compared to studies on domestic mink. Cryptorchidism is a relatively rare condition, so a larger sample of mink would be needed in order to make a justifiable assessment.

Histological examination of the testes was challenging to perform due to decomposition and freeze fractures. Even so, the structure of the testes was often sufficiently intact to enable recording of the seminiferous tubular diameter (paper I). This diameter was found to follow the same variation as testis weight, a finding that has been observed in farmed mink as well. Seminiferous tubular diameter could be an interesting variable to study, as it may be affected by EDCs. A reduction in tubular diameter has been observed in mice exposed to chlordane (Balash *et al.*, 1987) and DDT (Krause *et al.*, 1975). However, as the variation in tubular diameter within the testis of the mink was sometimes quite large, further studies on how the freezing affects tubular diameter and how to handle intra-assay variation are recommended and fresh carcasses may be preferable. The histological evaluations also revealed

that the adult mink seemed to produce spermatozoa earlier in the season than the juveniles, as spermatozoa were found in only 64% of the juveniles and 94% of the adults during spring (paper I). This is in line with findings in a study by (Gerell, 1971), where juvenile females and males seemed to breed later than the adult mink.

As sperm morphology may be targeted by EDCs (Faqi et al., 1998b; Kuriyama & Chahoud, 2004), spermatozoa were collected from the cauda epididymis by needle aspiration for analysis (paper I). Occasionally this procedure failed to collect sufficient spermatozoa for the sperm morphology procedure, or alternatively, the epididymal sperm count was low. Cutting the cauda epididymis into small pieces with scissors in formol-saline could possibly yield better results. The sperm morphology indicated that most mink would probably be fertile (assuming normal sperm count and motility), as the percent defective spermatozoa was low. However, comparing with the results from a study regarding the effect of freezing on cat spermatozoa (Larsson, 2012), the observed low frequency of coiled tails, as well as the increased frequency of abnormal acrosomes, might be an effect of freezing. On the other hand, pathological heads, mid-piece defects and detached sperm heads are most likely unaffected by freezing. So naturally, in order to get all possible information from a sperm morphology evaluation, freezing should be avoided. Still, the results from using frozen samples suggest that the epithelium in the seminiferous tubules is intact and functioning in most mink, as the average percentages of pathological heads, mid-piece defects and detached heads were low (paper I).

4.2 Contaminant levels in wild male mink

Very high levels of PFOS (mean 1250 ng/g wet weight, range is shown in Table 1) and the detection of PFBS and long chain PFAAs in many of the mink indicate that mink readily accumulate several fluorinated organic contaminants (paper III). The concentrations of \sum PCBs varied considerably (Table 1) and the mean concentration of the PCB congeners (*n*=24 congeners) analyzed was 7320 ng/g lipid weight (lw). The mean concentration of \sum PBDE (*n*=10 congeners) was 42.5 ng/g lw. The predominant pesticides found in mink were oxychlordane, HCB and p,p'-DDE (mean 21.5, 22.0 and 476 ng/g lw, respectively). The most commonly detected methoxylated PBDEs were 6MeO-PBDE 47 and 2MeO-PBDE 68, although the concentrations were generally low (mean 2.1 and 1.6 ng/g lw, respectively) (paper II).

Table 1 shows the range of contaminant concentrations analyzed in some top predators in Sweden. Note that the sample areas, sample years, and method for

Species	Sample years N	Ν	ΣPCB	ΣPBDE DDE	DDE	HCB	PFOS	References
American mink (Neovison vison)	2004-2009 ^b	101	101 108-124 000	2.0-390	2.0-390 8.8–9708	2.7-439	2.7-439 <0.8-21 800 (Papers II-III)	(Papers II-III)
Lynx (Lynx lynx)	1999-2002°	25	46-1590	n.d. ^e	<l0q<sup>f-210</l0q<sup>	n.d.	2.8-202	(Lind, 2012)
Pine marten (Martes martes)	1989-1992 °	62	190-11 500		0.47-350	9.5-180		(Bremle <i>et al.</i> , 1997)
Otter (Lutra lutra)	$1990-1994$ $^{\circ}$	43	000 098-009					(Roos et al., 2001)
	$2000-2004$ $^{\circ}$	26	1200-78 000					(Bisther & Roos, 2006)
	1970-2011	140					19-16 000	(Roos, 2013)
	2005-2011°	49	-72 000	- 649			32-7352	(Roos, 2012)
Grey seal (Halichoerus grypus)	2005-2008	15					156-1444	(Kratzer et al., 2011)
	2000-2001 ^d	10			2300-15 000			(Larsson et al., 2004)

^e not detected ^f limit of quantification

analysis vary between these studies. The mink, which is relatively short-lived, contains relatively high concentrations of PCB and DDE. This might reflect the semi-aquatic diet of the mink. Mink and otter both seem to have extremely high levels of PFOS. As the otter is a vulnerable species protected from hunting in Sweden, mink could serve as an indicator of the otter to PFOS (and other PFAAs) exposure to the otter in a certain areas of interest.

4.3 Influence of age, season and nutritional status on the reproductive system and contaminant concentrations

4.3.1 Age variability

There was a clear influence of age on the reproductive organs (paper I). The weights of the testes, epididymides and penis were lower in juvenile mink compared to older mink. After the first year of life there was no further increase in weight noted in these organs, nor in the development of the anogenital distance, which indicates that most of the development of the reproductive system is completed after one year. However, baculum and penis length (including the baculum) increased continuously with age, a phenomenom seen in other studies where the baculum has been evaluated as a tool for ageing mink (Elder, 1951; Lechleitner, 1954).

The concentrations of some PCBs, as well as the concentrations of PBDE 153/154, increased with age, which is in line with the high bioaccumulation potential of these congeners (paper II). However, the concentrations did not differ significantly between juveniles and one-year-olds, possibly due to a combination of growth dilution and high exposure via milk and subsequent changes in diet. All other PBDE congeners (including 6MeO-PBDE 47), DDE, HCB, oxychlordane, all PFAAs and the lower chlorinated PCB congeners were not influenced by age (papers II-III). In general, the results regarding the influence of age on concentrations of contaminants in mammalian wildlife are often quite contradictory, sometimes even in the same species (see discussions in papers II-III). The influence of age could perhaps be less in relation to other factors, such as choice of prey, hotspot exposures or annual changes in lipid metabolism, that make age dependency per se difficult to identify. In mink, the relatively short life span may complicate the identification of an age influence even more, and might be one of the reasons for the absence of an age influence for some contaminants in our studies.

Mink in Sweden seem to be generally quite short-lived. The average age for all our collected males and females was 0.8 years (n=283), and only 7% were 3 years or older (unpublished data). The age ranged from juvenile to 5 years old. It is known that juveniles often dominate the trapping result, especially during

early autumn (Bonesi *et al.*, 2006). In our experience, the juveniles are easily recognized upon necropsy up until approximately 7 months of age, based on body size and the length and development of the baculum. Depending on the specific research question, this may be sufficient information and the extra work and cost of teeth extraction and age determination by cementum analysis could be avoided. For example, if only assessing the exposure of PBDEs, organochlorine pesticides and PFAAs, a sample containing many juveniles will probably not underestimate the exposure to any great extent as these contaminants did not vary significantly with age. However, if PCBs are of interest, it is more important to include older animals, as the levels of PCB increased with age. Avoiding sampling during the juvenile dispersal in autumn could help to increase the proportion of older animals caught.

4.3.2 Seasonal variability

The mink is known to be a seasonal breeder, and this was clearly shown by the results in paper I. The seasonal change in the measurements on the reproductive organs was similar to observations in domestic mink. The most pronounced seasonal changes were those seen in the weights of the testes and epididymides. Naturally, in order to identify mink with abnormal weights of these organs, the sample size must be large enough to reach satisfactory statistical power. Alternatively, the sampling could be restricted to certain times of year, but one should take into account that the average contaminant concentrations may be over- or underestimated as PCB, PBDE and some PFAA concentrations also vary with season (papers II-III).

PCB concentrations, and also concentrations of PBDE 153/154 and PBDE 47, were generally at their highest in spring. Possibly, this seasonal variation is not attributed only to general weight loss during late winter and spring and subsequent increased concentration in adipose tissue. Perfluorodecanoic acid (PFDA) and perfluoroundecanoic acid (PFUnDA), chemicals that do not accumulate in fat to any larger extent, showed similar seasonal changes in concentration, which suggests influence of other factors, such as seasonal changes in home range size (Zschille et al., 2012), seasonal changes in concentrations in prey or seasonal shifts in food preferences. As the mink generally feeds on any available prey, the composition of the diet is variable, and it has been found to be dominated by mammals (Hammershoj et al., 2004; Ibarra et al., 2009), fish (Gerell, 1967b; Salo et al., 2010), birds (Hammershoj et al., 2004), amphibians (Jedrzejewska et al., 2001), or crayfish (Melero et al., 2008). In a study from Sweden, mink preyed more on fish during winter and spring, but during other seasons preys such as mammals, birds, crayfish, frogs and insects were more common (Gerell, 1967b).

4.3.3 Variability due to changes in nutritional status

Notably, nutritional status did not influence the reproductive traits, except for the anogenital distance (paper I). Nutrition is a major environmental cue for reproduction in domestic animals (Robinson, 1996). For example, ram lambs offered improved pasture and grain supplementation had an earlier pubertal development, smaller winter regression in testicular size and earlier testicular recrudescence in spring than lambs on poorer pasture (Bielli Pallela, 1999). The lack of influence of nutritional status in our study could be interpreted as the mink eating enough for reproduction to rarely be affected by nutritional status as we have measured it.

Mink with sparse amounts of adipose tissue had higher concentrations of \sum PCB and \sum PBDEs than mink with larger fat depots, which reflects the lipophilic nature of these chemicals and the increased concentration in adipose tissue in case of an increased fat mobilization. In contrast, the analyzed pesticides and the PFAAs were not influenced by nutritional status (papers II-III). For the lipophilic pesticides this is difficult to explain, but the PFAAs are not expected to accumulate specifically in adipose tissue as they tend to bind to proteins (Luebker *et al.*, 2002; Jones *et al.*, 2003).

Nutritional status did not vary with season in paper I, but in paper II the nutritional status of mink caught in winter was significantly higher than that of mink caught in autumn or spring. Possibly, factors such as prey availability, population density, local climate and disease (for example Aleutian disease) could be the underlying reasons for the inconsistent results.

4.4 Variability in contaminant concentrations between and within sampling areas

Mink from the Baltic coast area had the highest average concentrations of $\sum PCBs$, $\sum PBDEs$, perfluorononaoic acid (PFNA), HCB, oxychlordane and DDE (papers II-III). This may be a reflection of the fairly large industries in that area (historically), and that the large rivers Dalälven and Ljusnan may carry some pollution. Mink from the Koster area on the west coast of Sweden generally had concentration levels that were intermediate compared to the other areas.

The differences in contamination levels between the sampling areas were more pronounced for the PFAAs than for the brominated and chlorinated contaminants (as seen in the scores plots in paper II and III). The lower chlorinated PCB congeners seemed to be more abundant in the urban/agricultural area (Märsta) and the average concentrations of PFOS and perfluorohexane sulfonate (PFHxS) were high in this area. In contrast, mink from the north of Sweden contained generally low concentrations of PFOS and PFHxS. Also, many mink from the northern parts of Sweden showed similar concentrations of the chlorinated and brominated contaminants as mink from the other areas, demonstrating the ubiquity of these contaminants.

There was considerable variation in contaminant concentrations within some areas. This was clearly shown by the principal component analyses (papers II-III), where the urban/agricultural area (Märsta) had the largest within-area variations. For example, several mink showed high \sum PCB concentrations, but there were also mink with very low concentrations. In addition, PFOS concentrations were extremely high in some mink. These large variations are most likely due to point sources, such as the large international airport and the Swedish Rescue Services former training camp, within the Märsta area. The small home range of the mink possibly reflects local contamination. In addition, population dynamics such as juvenile dispersal and transient males from adjacent areas during breeding season may perhaps result in some variation in contaminant concentrations.

4.5 Associations between contaminant concentrations and the reproductive system in the mink

Using multiple regression models (with covariates), several associations between the contaminant concentrations and the reproductive organ measurements were found. In a mixture of brominated, chlorinated and perfluorinated contaminants (and other contaminants that were not analyzed), significant negative associations between DDE, PFOS, PFDA, PFUnDA, Σ PFAA concentrations and the anogenital distance were found (p<0.05). In addition, penis length tended to be negatively associated with DDE (p<0.1). These pollutants showed anti-androgenic effects in studies on laboratory animals (Kelce *et al.*, 1995; Shi *et al.*, 2007) and similar associations in humans and wildlife have been observed (Guillette Jr *et al.*, 1999; Torres-Sanchez *et al.*, 2008). These results should be further investigated, as high levels of PFAAs are found in some wildlife.

Baculum length, penis length and penis weight were positively associated with PCB 52, PCB 47/48 and PCB 110. Likewise, there were positive associations between penis length and PCB 28, and between penis weight and PCB 52. These results are difficult to interpret. As these PCB congeners are expected to have estrogenic properties, the results might be interpreted as a stimulating or protective effect on the baculum, but this is speculative. Negative associations between pollutants and baculum length were not found, but have been reported in other wildlife.

In an additional statistical analysis of sperm morphology from 22 mink, no influence of contaminant concentrations on the percentage of pathological heads or abnormal sperm was found (in formol-saline; mid-piece defects, detached sperm heads, proximal cytoplasmatic droplets and acrosome defects).

As only male mink were used for exposure analysis, comparison with laboratory studies on mink reproduction with endpoints such as litter size and kit survival should be interpreted with great caution, but could serve as a useful indication. After the first breeding season, females will probably have lower concentrations of most contaminants than males, due to transfer to the offspring during gestation and lactation (Bleavins et al., 1981). Assuming that juvenile males and females contain approximately the same concentrations of contaminants prior to the first breeding season, a comparison was made between juvenile concentrations (n=51) and laboratory studies performed on mink. The levels of HCB in this study were not as high as those associated with increased kit mortality (Rush et al., 1983), nor were the PBDE levels as high as the concentrations resulting in complete reproductive failure (Zhang et al., 2009). Nevertheless, 12% of the juveniles had Σ PCB concentrations above the lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL) reported by Brunström et al (2001). At this level, reduced kit production and kit growth were observed in litters after females were fed a mixture of PCB congeners (Clophen A50) that resulted in an average concentration of 12 000 ng/g lw in muscle. However, a comparison with that study should be made carefully, as it seems that the effect was mediated mostly by congeners that are Ah receptor agonists (dioxin-like). In our study, only mono-ortho-substituted dioxin-like PCBs were analyzed and these PCBs have lower Ah-receptor-mediated toxicity than the co-planar PCBs. However, this analysis suggests that mink can accumulate concentrations above this LOAEL during their first year of life. As the juvenile mink with the highest concentrations were from the urban/agricultural area (Märsta) and the Baltic coast area (Gävle), further investigation of the concentrations in the female mink in these areas is justified.

Although there are considerable numbers of studies on mink fed different doses of contaminants, inconsistencies are often found in tissue selection and reporting on a wet weight or lipid weight basis when analyzing body concentrations (if reported at all). Moreover, there is generally a level of uncertainty when comparing the sum of PCBs in different studies. The number of analyzed congeners may differ between studies, which of course influences the calculated levels. Also, the congener patterns may differ; it could even vary geographically in wild mink (as seen in paper II). Therefore, some information is lost when reporting PCBs or PBDEs only as a sum of the congeners.

5 Conclusions

Wild male mink in Sweden readily accumulate different kinds of contaminants and may serve as an indicator of environmental contamination. More importantly, the wild mink seems to be a suitable sentinel species that may provide an early warning of alterations in male reproductive organs related to environmental pollution. The specific conclusions drawn from the studies in this thesis were:

- Large numbers of mink were successfully collected by working with local hunters and handling frozen carcasses. This is a good and practical approach, as mink carcasses are small enough to be easily transported and stored, but it hampers histology and the evaluation of sperm morphology. Baseline data for several reproductive organ measurements were provided, that could be used for comparisons in screening and/or monitoring programmes
- The variation in the reproductive organs in male mink was connected to both age and season, but nutritional status did not seem to have any influence. The large variation in some reproductive organs (e.g. testis weight) points to the need for carefully designed sampling strategies
- When recording concentrations of PCBs and PBDEs in wild male mink, it is advisable to take age, season and nutritional status into account. Higher concentrations were generally found in mink that were two years or older, caught in spring or with poor nutritional status. The influence of these factors on concentrations of HCB, chlordane, DDE and most PFAAs was not significant, although some PFAAs showed seasonal variation
 - 33

- Mink from the Baltic coast area around Gävle and Söderhamn had generally the highest concentrations of many of the contaminants compared to the other sampling areas. However, there were mink with very high concentrations of PFOS from the urban/agricultural area north of Stockholm (Märsta), and there was more variation in contaminant concentrations within this area than in the other areas
- Several associations between tissue concentrations of contaminants and variables of the reproductive system were found. For example, the anogenital distance was inversely associated with DDE, PFOS, PFDA, PFUnDA and ∑PFAA concentrations. Also, penis length tended to be negatively associated with DDE. These results warrant further investigation

6 Future perspectives

EDCs have been a growing research area for some decades and cause-effect linkages are becoming more evident. However, there are many challenging tasks ahead, considering the concepts of mixtures and non-linear doseresponses, as well as the increasing number of chemicals. Research on wild animals will most likely continue to provide valuable information that will increase our understanding of the effects of endocrine-disrupting chemicals.

The information provided in this thesis can be used to improve the design of studies using fresh carcasses, which is beneficial as the latter may be more costly and labour-intensive to collect. Fresh carcasses can provide information about histological examinations, for example, or hormone analyses. Moreover, the assessment of sperm morphology will be more reliable. A combination of variables on frozen carcasses and other variables on fresh carcasses could be used in order to assess the reproductive system of male mink in an area of interest.

The seasonality of mink reproduction is challenging in terms of sampling and statistical analysis. However, the seasonality is in itself interesting, as the yearly timing of, for example, spermatogenesis prior to the breeding season is crucial. It has been shown that mink exposed to diethylstilbestrol (an estrogenic compound) prior to the breeding season had depressed testicular development and spermatogenesis was absent (Pridham, 1960). The annual development of the reproductive organs in male mink could in theory be delayed due to environmental exposures of estrogenic and anti-androgenic compounds. Assessing the development of the reproductive organs and spermatogenesis during the breeding season is an important step towards understanding possible adverse effects on male mink fertility. Testicular histology could be a useful tool, as well as testosterone concentrations (Sundqvist *et al.*, 1984). Moreover, as sperm count seems to be declining in humans (Carlsen *et al.*, 1992; Swan *et al.*, 2000), the number of

homogenization resistant spermatids in the testicles could possibly be a useful endpoint to explore in mink.

As mink can breed during their first year of life, the generation time will be relatively short. This suggests that mink may be a suitable sentinel species for developmental toxicity in humans and wildlife with longer generation time. For example, the anogenital distance offers an easy, inexpensive and fast measurement that may be used for assessment of developmental exposure. Further studies are needed to investigate if anogenital distance in mink is correlated to, for example, sperm count, penis length and reproductive organ weights. To do this, a large set of mink of the same age sampled at the same time of year would be needed.

Using the anogenital distance together with other reproductive parameters may offer a way of screening for hot-spot exposure areas. To explore further the possible developmental effects of EDCs in the environment, studies on female mink exposure and the effects thereof on female reproduction are also of great importance. To assess better the associations between pollutants and developmental effects in males, juveniles caught during summer or autumn could be the best sample to focus on, as these mink presumably have a contaminant pattern resembling the one they were exposed to prenatally.

The mink is generally quite short-lived. Therefore, it can be assumed that the concentrations seen in mink reflect recent exposure and monitoring mink can reveal very recent fluctuations in the environment. This suggests that the mink may be suitable for monitoring time-trends or to monitor the level of contamination after measures have been taken to remove the source of pollution in an area. Following the PFAAs levels in the Märsta area would be of great interest, especially for the people resident in that area, particularly since concern for health effects due to PFAA exposure in the Swedish population has been identified in a recent risk assessment (Borg *et al.*, 2013).

As mink can be collected in areas quite close to human activities, they could be a useful tool for assessing environmental contamination of, for example, pharmaceuticals, chemicals used in consumer products or even new chemicals. Of course, other EDC-related health effects, for example on the immune system, thyroid or adrenals, remain to be studied in wild mink.

7 Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Den här avhandlingen undersöker möjligheten att använda vild mink (*Neovison vison*) som ett miljöövervakningssystem, både för exponering och för effekter av miljögifter. På så sätt kan vild mink fungera som en "alarmklocka" för miljögifter och deras påverkan på exempelvis fortplantningssystemet. En sådan varning skulle även kunna vara av betydelse för människor, eftersom både vilda djur och människor utsätts för snarlika kemikalieblandningar.

Under de senaste decennierna har studier påvisat kopplingar mellan hormonstörande kemikalier och djur och människors hälsa. Ett av de hormonsystem i kroppen som kan påverkas är det som har hand om fortplantningen. Kända exempel på miljögifter som kan orsaka fortplantningsstörningar är till exempel miljögiftet DDT, som orsakar äggskalsförtunning hos fåglar och miljögiftet PCB, som har satts i samband med nedsatt fortplantningsförmåga hos gråsälar. Även människors fortplantning tros kunna påverkas.

För att kunna övervaka vad som händer när miljögifter kommer ut i miljön kan man använda en indikatorart, det vill säga en art som återspeglar förhållanden i miljön. Den amerikanska minken blev introducerad i Sverige på trettiotalet, har många egenskaper som gör den lämplig som indikatorart för kemikalier och kemikalierelaterade effekter i miljön. Bland annat så är den högt upp i näringskedjan och födan består till stor del av vattenlevande djur som t ex fisk, kräftor och grodor, men även fåglar, fågelägg och gnagare. Troligtvis innebär dess födopreferenser att den är starkt exponerad för många olika kemikalier och i ganska höga halter. Dessutom är minken relativt vanligt förekommande i större delen av landet och får jagas året runt i obegränsad mängd.

Minkar samlades in från lokala jägare runt om i hela Sverige, men flest minkar togs från fyra utvalda områden: Kosteröarna på västkusten, östkusten kring Gävle och Söderhamn, Märsta strax norr om Stockholm och Norrlands

inland. Minkhannarnas fortplantningsorgan studerades för att hitta robusta och lämpliga mått/parametrar att använda i miljöövervakningssyfte. Dessutom analyserades halter av klorerade, bromerade och perfluorerade ämnen i minkarnas lever och/eller fettdepåer. Sedan undersöktes hur faktorer som minkens ålder, insamlingssäsong och kroppskondition påverkar minkarnas fortplantningsorgan och halter av miljögifter. Resultaten från dessa analyser kan användas för att förbättra statistisk hantering eller effektivisera strategier för insamling av mink i framtiden.

Relativt höga koncentrationer av PCB fanns i vissa minkars fettdepåer, särskilt i de från områdena kring Gävle/Söderhamn och Märsta. Några minkar från Märsta hade bland de högsta koncentrationerna av perfluoroktansulfonat (PFOS) som någonsin uppmätts i mink. De höga koncentrationerna kan bero på att Räddningsverkets f.d. övningsplats och Arlanda flygplats ligger i området.

Statistiska analyser påvisade flera samband mellan halter av kemikalier och förändringar i fortplantningssystemet. Minkar med höga halter av DDE (en nedbrytningsprodukt av DDT) och vissa perfluorerade ämnen (t ex PFOS), hade ett relativt kortare anogenitalt avstånd. Det anogenitala avståndet är ett mått som ofta används i exempelvis experimentella studier på råtta för att utvärdera effekter av hormonstörande ämnen under fostertiden. Ett minskat anogenitalt avstånd hos råtthannar tyder på att könshormonerna har påverkats, det vill säga en möjlig feminisering och/eller anti-androgen effekt.

Sammanfattningsvis visar studierna i den här avhandlingen att vilda minkar fungerar utmärkt som indikatorer/alarmklocka för miljögiftsföroreningar i Sverige. I framtida studier kan minken med fördel användas till att leta efter nya miljögifter eller övervaka kända miljögifter. Att studera minkens fortplantningssystem kan ge ledtrådar att följa för att upptäcka påverkan av miljögifter i naturen och för att bringa klarhet i hur blandningar av hormonstörande ämnen påverkar djurs och människors fortplantningssystem.

References

3M (2000). Phase-out Plan for PFOS-based Products. US EPA Docket AR 226-0588.

- Abdelouahab, N., AinMelk, Y. & Takser, L. (2011). Polybrominated diphenyl ethers and sperm quality. *Reproductive Toxicology* 31(4), 546-550.
- Ahrens, L., Siebert, U. & Ebinghaus, R. (2009). Total body burden and tissue distribution of polyfluorinated compounds in harbor seals (Phoca vitulina) from the German Bight. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 58(4), 520-525.
- Alaee, M., Arias, P., Sjödin, A. & Bergman, Å. (2003). An overview of commercially used brominated flame retardants, their applications, their use patterns in different countries/regions and possible modes of release. *Environment International* 29(6), 683-689.

Aneck-Hahn, N.H., Schulenburg, G.W., Bornman, M.S., Farias, P. & de Jager, C. (2007). Impaired Semen Quality Associated With Environmental DDT Exposure in Young Men Living in a Malaria Area in the Limpopo Province, South Africa. *Journal of Andrology* 28(3), 423-434.

- Aulerich, R., Powell, D. & Bursian, S. (1999). Handbook of biological data for mink: Michigan State University, Department of Animal Science.
- Aulerich, R. & Ringer, R. (1970). Some effects of chlorinated hydrocarbon pesticides on mink. *Am Fur Breeder* 43(6), 10-11.
- Aulerich, R. & Ringer, R. (1979). Toxic effects of dietary polybrominated biphenyls on mink. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 8(4), 487-498.
- Aulerich, R.J. & Bursian, S. (1996). Toxicology in mink. In: D.B Hunter, N.L. (Ed.) Mink Biology Health and Disease University of Guelph, Guelph, ON.
- Aulerich, R.J., Ringer, R.K. & Iwamoto, S. (1973). Reproductive failure and mortality in mink fed on Great Lakes fish. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. Supplement* 19, 365-76.
- Aulerich, R.J., Ringer, R.K., Seagran, H.L. & Youatt, W.G. (1971). Effects of feeding coho salmon and other Great Lakes fish on mink reproduction. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 49(5), 611-616.
- Ayotte, P., Giroux, S., Dewailly, É., Avila, M.H., Farias, P., Danis, R. & Díaz, C.V. (2001). DDT Spraying for Malaria Control and Reproductive Function in Mexican Men. *Epidemiology* 12(3), 366-367.
- Balash, K., Al-Omar, M. & Abdul Latif, B. (1987). Effect of chlordane on testicular tissues of swiss mice. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 39(3), 434-442.

- Barber, J.L., Sweetman, A.J., van Wijk, D. & Jones, K.C. (2005). Hexachlorobenzene in the global environment: Emissions, levels, distribution, trends and processes. *Science of the Total Environment* 349(1–3), 1-44.
- Basu, N., Head, J., Scheuhammer, A.M., Bursian, S.J., Rouvinen-Watt, K. & Chan, H.M. (2009). The mink is still a reliable sentinel species in environmental health. *Environmental Research* 109(7), 940-941.
- Basu, N., Klenavic, K., Gamberg, M., O'Brien, M., Evans, D., Scheuhammer, A.M. & Chan, H.M. (2005). Effects of mercury on neurochemical receptor-binding characteristics in wild mink. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 24(6), 1444-1450.
- Basu, N., Scheuhammer, A.M., Bursian, S.J., Elliott, J., Rouvinen-Watt, K. & Chan, H.M. (2007). Mink as a sentinel species in environmental health. *Environmental Research* 103(1), 130-144.
- Beckett, K.J., Yamini, B. & Bursian, S.J. (2008). The effects of 3,3 ',4,4 ',5-pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB 126) on mink (*Mustela vison*) reproduction and kit survivability and growth. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 54(1), 123-129.
- Bhasin, S. (1999). Androgens, Effects in Mammals. In: Knobil, E., et al. (Eds.) Encyclopedia of reproduction Academic Press; 1).
- Biegel, L.B., Liu, R.C., Hurtt, M.E. & Cook, J.C. (1995). Effects of ammonium perfluorooctanoate on Leydig-cell function: in vitro, in vivo, and ex vivo studies. *Toxicology* and Applied Pharmacology 134(1), 18-25.
- Bielli Pallela, A. (1999). Testicular morphology in corriedale rams. influence of feeding management conditions in the Río de la Plata grasslands. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Diss. Uppsala.
- Bignert, A., Danielsson, S., Faxneld, S., Nyberg, E., Borg, H., Holm, K., Nylund, K., Eriksson, U., Berger, U. & Haglund, P. (2012). Comments concerning the national Swedish contaminant monitoring programme in marine biota, 2012. *Report to the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency. Report nr 1:2012* (1), 228.
- Binetti, R., Costamagna, F.M. & Marcello, I. (2008). Exponential growth of new chemicals and evolution of information relevant to risk control. *Annali Istituto Superiore di Sanita* 44(1), 13.
- Birgelen, A.P.J.M.v. (1998). Hexachlorobenzene as a Possible Major Contributor to the Dioxin Activity of Human Milk. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 106(11), 683-688.
- Bisther, M. & Roos, A. (2006). Uttern i Sverige 2006. *Delrapport inom WWFs projekt Levande Skogsvatten*.
- Bitman, J. & Cecil, H.C. (1970). Estrogenic activity of DDT analogs and polychlorinated biphenyls. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 18(6), 1108-1112.
- Bleavins, M., Aulerich, R. & Ringer, R. (1980). Polychlorinated biphenyls (Aroclors 1016 and 1242): Effects on survival and reproduction in mink and ferrets. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 9(5), 627-635.
- Bleavins, M.R., Aulerich, R.J. & Ringer, R.K. (1981). Placental and mammary transfer of polychlorinated and polybrominated biphenyls in the mink and ferret. *Avian and Mammalian Wildlife Toxicology. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA* (757), 121-131.



- Bleavins, M.R., Aulerich, R.J. & Ringer, R.K. (1984). Effects of chronic dietary hexachlorobenzene exposure on the reproductive performance and survivability of mink and European ferrets. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 13(3), 357-365.
- Bonefeld-Jørgensen, E.C., Andersen, H.R., Rasmussen, T.H. & Vinggaard, A.M. (2001). Effect of highly bioaccumulated polychlorinated biphenyl congeners on estrogen and androgen receptor activity. *Toxicology* 158(3), 141-153.
- Bonesi, L., Harrington, L.A., Maran, T., Sidorovich, V.E. & Macdonald, D.W. (2006). Demography of three populations of American mink *Mustela vison* in Europe. *Mammal Review* 36(1), 98-106.
- Bonesi, L. & Macdonald, D. (2004). Impact of released Eurasian otters on a population of American mink: a test using an experimental approach. *Oikos* 106(1), 9-18.
- Bonesi, L. & Palazon, S. (2007). The American mink in Europe: Status, impacts, and control. *Biological Conservation* 134(4), 470-483.
- Bonesi, L., Rushton, S.P. & Macdonald, D.W. (2007). Trapping for mink control and water vole survival: Identifying key criteria using a spatially explicit individual based model. *Biological Conservation* 136(4), 636-650.
- Borg, D., Lund, B.-O., Lindquist, N.-G. & Håkansson, H. (2013). Cumulative health risk assessment of 17 perfluoroalkylated and polyfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs) in the Swedish population. *Environment International* 59(0), 112-123.
- Bowman, J. & Schulte-Hostedde, A.I. (2009). The mink is not a reliable sentinel species. *Environmental Research* 109(7), 937-939.
- Breivik, K., Sweetman, A., Pacyna, J.M. & Jones, K.C. (2002). Towards a global historical emission inventory for selected PCB congeners — a mass balance approach: 1. Global production and consumption. *Science of the Total Environment* 290(1–3), 181-198.
- Bremle, G., Larsson, P. & Helldin, J.O. (1997). Polychlorinated biphenyls in a terrestrial predator, the pine marten (Martes martes L.). *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 16(9), 1779-1784.
- Brimfield, A.A. & Street, J. (1979). Mammalian biotransformation of chlordane: in vivo and primary hepatic comparisons. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 320(1), 247-256.
- Brunström, B., Lund, B.O., Bergman, A., Asplund, L., Athanassiadis, I., Athanasiadou, M., Jensen, S. & Orberg, J. (2001). Reproductive toxicity in mink (*Mustela vison*) chronically exposed to environmentally relevant polychlorinated biphenyl concentrations. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 20(10), 2318-2327.
- Buck, R.C., Franklin, J., Berger, U., Conder, J.M., Cousins, I.T., de Voogt, P., Jensen, A.A., Kannan, K., Mabury, S.A. & van Leeuwen, S.P. (2011). Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in the environment: terminology, classification, and origins. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management* 7(4), 513-541.
- Bursian, S.J., Sharma, C., Aulerich, R.J., Yamini, B., Mitchell, R.R., Orazio, C.E., Moore, D.R.J., Svirsky, S. & Tillitt, D.E. (2006). Dietary exposure of mink (*Mustela vison*) to fish from the Housatonic River, Berkshire County, Massachusetts, USA: Effects on reproduction, kit growth, and survival. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 25(6), 1533-1540.
- Buskirk, S.W. & Lindstedt, S.L. (1989). Sex biases in trapped samples of Mustelidae. Journal of Mammalogy, 88-97.

- Bäcklin, B.M. & Bergman, A. (1992). Morphological aspects on the reproductive-organs in female mink (*Mustela vison*) exposed to polychlorinated biphenyls and fractions thereof. *Ambio* 21(8), 596-601.
- Bäcklin, B.M., Persson, E., Jones, C.J.P. & Dantzer, V. (1998). Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) exposure produces placental vascular and trophoblastic lesions in the mink (*Mustela vison*): a light and electron microscopic study. *APMIS, Acta Pathologica, Microbiologica et Immunologica Scandinavica* 106(8), 785-799.
- Calabrese, E.J., Aulerich, R.J. & Padgett, G.A. (1992). Mink as a predictive model in toxicology. *Drug Metabolism Reviews* 24(4), 559-78.
- Carlsen, E., Giwercman, A., Keiding, N. & Skakkebæk, N.E. (1992). Evidence for decreasing quality of semen during past 50 years. *BMJ: British Medical Journal* 305(6854), 609.
- Carreau, S., Lambard, S., Delalande, C., Denis-Galeraud, I., Bilinska, B. & Bourguiba, S. (2003). Aromatase expression and role of estrogens in male gonad : a review. *Reproductive Biology* and Endocrinology 1(1), 35.
- Carruthers, C.M. & Foster, P.M.D. (2005). Critical window of male reproductive tract development in rats following gestational exposure to di-n-butyl phthalate. *Birth Defects Research Part B: Developmental and Reproductive Toxicology* 74(3), 277-285.
- Cato, I. (2008). Sediment visar kemikaliers spridning. (Havet 2008.
- Colborn, T. (1994). The wildlife/human connection: modernizing risk decisions. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 102(Suppl 12), 55.
- Conder, J.M., Hoke, R.A., Wolf, W., Russell, M.H. & Buck, R.C. (2008). Are PFCAs bioaccumulative? A critical review and comparison with regulatory criteria and persistent lipophilic compounds. *Environmental Science & Technology* 42(4), 995-1003.
- Cook, J.C., Murray, S.M., Frame, S.R. & Hurtt, M.E. (1992). Induction of Leydig cell adenomas by ammonium perfluorooctanoate: a possible endocrine-related mechanism. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 113(2), 209-217.
- Crum, J.A., Bursian, S.J., Aulerich, R.J., Polin, D. & Braselton, W.E. (1993). The reproductive effects of dietary heptachlor in mink (*Mustela vison*). Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 24(2), 156-164.
- De Jager, C., Farias, P., Barraza-Villarreal, A., Avila, M.H., Ayotte, P., Dewailly, E., Dombrowski, C., Rousseau, F., Sanchez, V.D. & Bailey, J.L. (2006). Reduced Seminal Parameters Associated With Environmental DDT Exposure and p,p'-DDE Concentrations in Men in Chiapas, Mexico: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Journal of Andrology* 27(1), 16-27.
- de Wit, C.A. (2002). An overview of brominated flame retardants in the environment. Chemosphere 46(5), 583-624.
- de Wit, C.A., Herzke, D. & Vorkamp, K. (2010). Brominated flame retardants in the Arctic environment — trends and new candidates. *Science of the Total Environment* 408(15), 2885-2918.
- Dearth, M.A. & Hites, R.A. (1991). Complete analysis of technical chlordane using negative ionization mass spectrometry. *Environmental Science & Technology* 25(2), 245-254.
- Diamanti-Kandarakis, E., Bourguignon, J.-P., Giudice, L.C., Hauser, R., Prins, G.S., Soto, A.M., Zoeller, R.T. & Gore, A.C. (2009). Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: an Endocrine Society scientific statement. *Endocrine Reviews* 30(4), 293-342.
- 42

Dunstone, N. (Ed.) (1993). The mink. London: T. & A. D. Poyser

- Elder, W.H. (1951). The Baculum as an Age Criterion in Mink. *Journal of Mammalogy* 32(1), 43-50.
- Enders, R.K. (1952). Reproduction in the Mink (*Mustela Vison*). Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society 96(6), 691-755.
- Eriksson, L., Johansson, E., Kettaneh-Wold, N., Trygg, J., Wikström, C. & Wold, S. (2006). *Multi-and megavariate data analysis*: MKS Umetrics AB. ISBN 9197373028.
- Faqi, A., Dalsenter, P., Merker, H. & Chahoud, I. (1998a). Effects on developmental landmarks and reproductive capability of 3, 3', 4, 4'-tetrachlorobiphenyl and 3, 3', 4, 4', 5pentacholorobiphenyl in offspring of rats exposed during pregnancy. *Human & Experimental Toxicology* 17(7), 365-372.
- Faqi, A.S., Dalsenter, P.R., Mathar, W., Heinrich-Hirsch, B. & Chahoud, I. (1998b). Reproductive toxicity and tissue concentrations of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachlorobiphenyl (PCB 77) in male adult rats. *Human & Experimental Toxicology* 17(3), 151-156.
- Fisher, J.S. (2004). Environmental anti-androgens and male reproductive health: focus on phthalates and testicular dysgenesis syndrome. *Reproduction* 127(3), 305-315.
- Foley, R.E., Jackling, S.J., Sloan, R.J. & Brown, M.K. (1988). Organochlorine and mercury residues in wild mink and otter: Comparison with fish. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 7(5), 363-374.
- Fox, G.A. (2001). Wildlife as sentinels of human health effects in the Great Lakes--St. Lawrence basin. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 109 (Suppl 6), 853-861.
- Gerell, R. (1967a). *Dispersal and acclimatization of the mink (Mustela vison Schreb.) in Sweden*. Stockholm: Svenska Jägareförbundet. Viltrevy : Swedish wildlife;vol. 5, no. 1.
- Gerell, R. (1967b). Food Selection in Relation to Habitat in Mink (*Mustela vison* Schreber) in Sweden. *Oikos* 18(2), 233-246.
- Gerell, R. (1970). Home Ranges and Movements of the Mink *Mustela vison* Shreber in Southern Sweden. *Oikos* 21(2), 160-173.
- Gerell, R. (1971). Population studies on mink, Mustela vison Schreber, in southern Sweden: Svenska jägareförbundet. Viltrevy 8:83-114.
- Gerell, R. (1972). Mink: en artmonografi: Aldus/Bonnier.
- Gray, L.E., Kelce, W.R., Monosson, E., Ostby, J.S. & Birnbaum, L.S. (1995). Exposure to TCDD During Development Permanently Alters Reproductive Function in Male Long-Evans Rats and Hamsters: Reduced Ejaculated and Epididymal Sperm Numbers and Sex Accessory Gland Weights in Offspring with Normal Androgenic Status. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 131(1), 108-118.
- Gray, L.E., Ostby, J., Wolf, C., Lambright, C. & Kelce, W. (1998). The value of mechanistic studies in laboratory animals for the prediction of reproductive effects in wildlife: Endocrine effects on mammalian sexual differentiation. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 17(1), 109-118.
- Guillette Jr, L.J., Brock, J.W., Rooney, A.A. & Woodward, A.R. (1999). Serum Concentrations of Various Environmental Contaminants and Their Relationship to Sex Steroid Concentrations and Phallus Size in Juvenile American Alligators. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 36(4), 447-455.

- Guo, Y.L., Hsu, P.-C., Hsu, C.-C. & Lambert, G.H. (2000). Semen quality after prenatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and dibenzofurans. *The Lancet* 356(9237), 1240-1241.
- Hahn, M.E., Goldstein, J.A., Linko, P. & Gasiewicz, T.A. (1989). Interaction of hexachlorobenzene with the receptor for 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in vitro and in vivo,: Evidence that hexachlorobenzene is a weak Ah receptor agonist. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 270(1), 344-355.
- Halliwell, E.C. & Macdonald, D.W. (1996). American mink *Mustela vison* in the upper Thames catchment: Relationship with selected prey species and den availability. *Biological Conservation* 76(1), 51-56.
- Hammershoj, M., Thomsen, E.A. & Madsen, A.B. (2004). Diet of free-ranging American mink and European polecat in Denmark. *Acta Theriologica* 49(3), 337-347.
- Hansson, A. (1947). The physiology of reproduction in mink (*Mustela vison*, Schreb.) with special reference to delayed implantation. *Acta Zoologica* 28(1), 1-136.
- Hany, J., Lilienthal, H., Sarasin, A., Roth-Härer, A., Fastabend, A., Dunemann, L., Lichtensteiger,
 W. & Winneke, G. (1999). Developmental Exposure of Rats to a Reconstituted PCB Mixture or Aroclor 1254: Effects on Organ Weights, Aromatase Activity, Sex Hormone Levels, and Sweet Preference Behavior. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 158(3), 231-243.
- Hardell, L., van Bavel, B., Lindström, G., Carlberg, M., Dreifaldt, A.C., Wijkström, H., Starkhammar, H., Eriksson, M., Hallquist, A. & Kolmert, T. (2003). Increased concentrations of polychlorinated biphenyls, hexachlorobenzene, and chlordanes in mothers of men with testicular cancer. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 111(7), 930.
- Harding, L.E., Harris, M.L., Stephen, C.R. & Elliott, J.E. (1999). Reproductive and morphological condition of wild mink (*Mustela vison*) and river otters (*Lutra canadensis*) in relation to chlorinated hydrocarbon contamination. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 107(2), 141-7.
- He, Y., Murphy, M.B., Yu, R.M.K., Lam, M.H.W., Hecker, M., Giesy, J.P., Wu, R.S.S. & Lam, P.K.S. (2008). Effects of 20 PBDE metabolites on steroidogenesis in the H295R cell line. *Toxicology Letters* 176(3), 230-238.
- Heaton, S.N., Bursian, S.J., Giesy, J.P., Tillitt, D.E., Render, J.A., Jones, P.D., Verbrugge, D.A., Kubiak, T.J. & Aulerich, R.J. (1995). Dietary exposure of mink to carp from Saginaw Bay, Michigan .1. Effects on reproduction and survival, and the potential risks to wild mink populations. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 28(3), 334-343.
- Hornshaw, T.C., Aulerich, R.J. & Johnson, H.E. (1983). Feeding Great Lakes fish to mink: effects on mink and accumulation and elimination of PCBS by mink. *Journal of Toxicology* and Environmental Health 11(4-6), 933-46.
- Houde, M., De Silva, A.O., Muir, D.C.G. & Letcher, R.J. (2011). Monitoring of Perfluorinated Compounds in Aquatic Biota: An Updated Review PFCs in Aquatic Biota. *Environmental Science & Technology* 45(19), 7962-7973.
- Hsu, P.-C., Pan, M.-H., Li, L.-A., Chen, C.-J., Tsai, S.-S. & Guo, Y.L. (2007). Exposure in utero to 2,2',3,3',4,6'-hexachlorobiphenyl (PCB 132) impairs sperm function and alters testicular apoptosis-related gene expression in rat offspring. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 221(1), 68-75.



- Hunter, D.B. & Lemieux, N. (1996). *Mink: biology, health and disease*: Dept. of Pathobiology, Ontario Veterinary College.
- Ibarra, J.T., Fasola, L., Macdonald, D.W., Rozzi, R. & Bonacic, C. (2009). Invasive American mink *Mustela vison* in wetlands of the Cape Horn Biosphere Reserve, southern Chile: what are they eating? *Oryx* 43(1), 87-90.
- Ishibashi, H., Iwata, H., Kim, E.Y., Tao, L., Kannan, K., Amano, M., Miyazaki, N., Tanabe, S., Batoev, V.B. & Petrov, E.A. (2008). Contamination and effects of perfluorochemicals in Baikal Seal (*Pusa sibirica*). 1. Residue level, tissue distribution, and temporal trend. *Environmental Science & Technology* 42(7), 2295-2301.
- Jaspers, V.L.B., Sonne, C., Soler-Rodriguez, F., Boertmann, D., Dietz, R., Eens, M., Rasmussen, L.M. & Covaci, A. (2013). Persistent organic pollutants and methoxylated polybrominated diphenyl ethers in different tissues of white-tailed eagles (*Haliaeetus albicilla*) from West Greenland. *Environmental Pollution* 175(0), 137-146.
- Jedrzejewska, B., Sidorovich, V.E., Pikulik, M.M. & Jedrzejewski, W. (2001). Feeding habits of the otter and the American mink in Bialowieza Primeval Forest (Poland) compared to other Eurasian populations. *Ecography* 24(2), 165-180.
- Jensen, S. (1972). The PCB story. Ambio, 123-131.
- Jensen, S., Kihlstrom, J.E., Olsson, M., Lundberg, C. & Orberg, J. (1977). Effects of PCB and DDT on mink (*Mustela vison*) during the reproductive season. *Ambio* 6(4), 237.
- Jones, P.D., Hu, W., De Coen, W., Newsted, J.L. & Giesy, J.P. (2003). Binding of perfluorinated fatty acids to serum proteins. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 22(11), 2639-2649.
- Järnberg U, H.K., van Bavel B, Kärrman A. (2008). *Perfluoroalkylated acids and related compounds (PFAS) in the Swedish environment.* Swedish Environmental Protection Agency.
- Kannan, K., Tao, L., Sinclair, E., Pastva, S.D., Jude, D.J. & Giesy, J.P. (2005). Perfluorinated compounds in aquatic organisms at various trophic levels in a Great Lakes food chain. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 48(4), 559-566.
- Kelce, W.R., Stone, C.R., Laws, S.C., Gray, L.E., Kemppainen, J.A. & Wilson, E.M. (1995). Persistent DDT metabolite p, p'DDE is a potent androgen receptor antagonist.
- Kelly, B.C., Ikonomou, M.G., Blair, J.D. & Gobas, F.A.P.C. (2008). Hydroxylated and Methoxylated Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers in a Canadian Arctic Marine Food Web. *Environmental Science & Technology* 42(19), 7069-7077.
- Kidd, A.G., Bowman, J., LesbarrÈRes, D. & Schulte-Hostedde, A.I. (2009). Hybridization between escaped domestic and wild American mink (*Neovison vison*). *Molecular Ecology* 18(6), 1175-1186.
- KIFS 2008:3. Kemikalieinspektionens föreskrifter (KIFS 2008:3) om bekämpningsmedel, bilaga 4 (2008).
- Kihlström, J.E., Olsson, M. & Jensen, S. (1992). Effects of PCB and different fractions of PCB on the reproduction of the mink (*Mustela vison*). *Ambio* 21(8), 563-9.
- Kjeldsen, L. & Bonefeld-Jørgensen, E. (2013). Perfluorinated compounds affect the function of sex hormone receptors. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 1-14.
- Klingener, D. (1979). Laboratory anatomy of the mink: Wm. C. Brown Company. ISBN 069704629X.

- Kodavanti, P.R.S., Coburn, C.G., Moser, V.C., MacPhail, R.C., Fenton, S.E., Stoker, T.E., Rayner, J.L., Kannan, K. & Birnbaum, L.S. (2010). Developmental Exposure to a Commercial PBDE Mixture, DE-71: Neurobehavioral, Hormonal, and Reproductive Effects. *Toxicological Sciences* 116(1), 297-312.
- Korhonen, H. & Niemelä, P. (1998). Effect of ad libitum and restrictive feeding on seasonal weight changes in captive minks (*Mustela vison*). Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition 79(1-5), 269-280.
- Kortenkamp, A. (2007). Ten years of mixing cocktails: a review of combination effects of endocrine-disrupting chemicals. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 115(S-1), 98.
- Kratzer, J., Ahrens, L., Roos, A., Backlin, B.-M. & Ebinghaus, R. (2011). Reprint of: Temporal trends of polyfluoroalkyl compounds (PFCs) in liver tissue of grey seals (*Halichoerus grypus*) from the Baltic Sea, 1974-2008. *Chemosphere* 85(2), 253-261.
- Krause, W., Hamm, K. & Weissmüller, J. (1975). The effect of DDT on spermatogenesis of the juvenile rat. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 14(2), 171-179.
- Kuriyama, S.N. & Chahoud, I. (2004). In utero exposure to low-dose 2,3',4,4',5pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB 118) impairs male fertility and alters neurobehavior in rat offspring. *Toxicology* 202(3), 185-197.
- Kuriyama, S.N., Talsness, C.E., Grote, K. & Chahoud, I. (2005). Developmental exposure to lowdose PBDE-99: Effects on male fertility and neurobehavior in rat offspring. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 113(2), 149-154.
- La Guardia, M.J., Hale, R.C. & Harvey, E. (2006). Detailed Polybrominated Diphenyl Ether (PBDE) Congener Composition of the Widely Used Penta-, Octa-, and Deca-PBDE Technical Flame-retardant Mixtures. *Environmental Science & Technology* 40(20), 6247-6254.
- Lagerkvist, G., Johansson, K. & Lundeheim, N. (1993). Selection for litter size, body weight, and pelt quality in mink (*Mustela vison*): experimental design and direct response of each trait. *Journal of Animal Science* 71(12), 3261-72.
- Larsson, C., Norström, K., Athanansiadis, I., Bignert, A., König, W.A. & Bergman, Å. (2004). Enantiomeric Specificity of Methylsulfonyl-PCBs and Distribution of Bis(4-chlorophenyl) Sulfone, PCB, and DDE Methyl Sulfones in Grey Seal Tissues. *Environmental Science & Technology* 38(19), 4950-4955.
- Larsson, J. (2012). Påverkan av frysning på spermiemorfologin hos kattdjur, med tamkatt som modelldjur.
- Lechleitner, R.R. (1954). Age Criteria in Mink, *Mustela vison. Journal of Mammalogy* 35(4), 496-503.
- Lemaire, G., Terouanne, B., Mauvais, P., Michel, S. & Rahmani, R. (2004). Effect of organochlorine pesticides on human androgen receptor activation in vitro. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 196(2), 235-246.
- Lieder, P.H., York, R.G., Hakes, D.C., Chang, S.C. & Butenhoff, J.L. (2009). A two-generation oral gavage reproduction study with potassium perfluorobutanesulfonate (K+ PFBS) in Sprague Dawley rats. *Toxicology* 259(1), 33-45.
- Lind, Y. (2012). Metals and organic contaminants in eagle owl (*Bubo bubo*) and Eurasian lynx (*Lynx lynx*) from different parts of Sweden.

- Lindstrom, A.B., Strynar, M.J. & Libelo, E.L. (2011). Polyfluorinated Compounds: Past, Present, and Future. *Environmental Science & Technology* 45(19), 7954-7961.
- Lister, A. & Van Der Kraak, G. (2001). Endocrine disruption: Why is it so complicated? Water Quality Research Journal of Canada 36(3), 175-190.
- Loeffler, I.K. & Peterson, R.E. (1999). Interactive Effects of TCDD andp,p'-DDE on Male Reproductive Tract Development inin Uteroand Lactationally Exposed Rats. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 154(1), 28-39.
- Luebker, D.J., Hansen, K.J., Bass, N.M., Butenhoff, J.L. & Seacat, A.M. (2002). Interactions of flurochemicals with rat liver fatty acid-binding protein. *Toxicology* 176(3), 175-185.
- MacLeod, D.J., Sharpe, R.M., Welsh, M., Fisken, M., Scott, H.M., Hutchison, G.R., Drake, A.J. & Van Den Driesche, S. (2010). Androgen action in the masculinization programming window and development of male reproductive organs. *International Journal of Andrology* 33(2), 279-287.
- Magnusson, U. & Ljungvall, K. (2013). Environmental pollutants and dysregulation of male puberty-a comparison among species. *Reproductive toxicology (Elmsford, NY)*.
- Marchetti, P.M. & Barth, J.H. (2013). Clinical biochemistry of dihydrotestosterone. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry 50(2), 95-107.
- Markey, C.M., Rubin, B.S., Soto, A.M. & Sonnenschein, C. (2002). Endocrine disruptors: from Wingspread to environmental developmental biology. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry* and Molecular Biology 83(1–5), 235-244.
- Martin, J.W., Smithwick, M.M., Braune, B.M., Hoekstra, P.F., Muir, D.C.G. & Mabury, S.A. (2004). Identification of long-chain perfluorinated acids in biota from the Canadian Arctic. *Environmental Science & Technology* 38(2), 373-380.
- Martinet, L., Mondain-Monval, M. & Monnerie, R. (1992). Endogenous circannual rhythms and photorefractoriness of testis activity, moult and prolactin concentrations in mink (*Mustela vison*). *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* 95(2), 325-38.
- McLachlan, J., Newbold, R. & Bullock, B. (1975). Reproductive tract lesions in male mice exposed prenatally to diethylstilbestrol. *Science* 190(4218), 991-992.
- Melero, Y., Palazon, S., Bonesi, L. & Gosalbez, J. (2008). Feeding habits of three sympatric mammals in NE Spain: the American mink, the spotted genet, and the Eurasian otter. *Acta Theriologica* 53(3), 263-273.
- Ministry for Rural Affairs ((1987:905)). Stockholm
- Mitchell, J.L. (1961). Mink movements and populations on a Montana river. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 25(1), 48-54.
- Newbold, R.R., Padilla-Banks, E. & Jefferson, W.N. (2006). Adverse Effects of the Model Environmental Estrogen Diethylstilbestrol Are Transmitted to Subsequent Generations. *Endocrinology* 147(6), s11-s17.
- Nieschlag, E. & Bieniek, H. (1975). Endocrine testicular function in mink during the first year of life. Acta Endocrinologica 79(2), 375-379.
- Norgil Damgaard, I., Maria Main, K., Toppari, J. & Skakkebæk, N.E. (2002). Impact of exposure to endocrine disrupters inutero and in childhood on adult reproduction. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 16(2), 289-309.
- NSF ((2009:10)). Artskyddsförordningen (Species Conservation Regulation). Stockholm.

- O'Brien, D.J., Kaneene, J.B. & Poppenga, R.H. (1993). The use of mammals as sentinels for human exposure to toxic contaminants in the environment. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 99, 351.
- Onstad, O. (1967). Studies on Postnatal Testicular Changes, Semen Quality, and Anomalies of Reproductive Organs in the Mink. Acta Endocrinologica 55(3_Suppl), S9-.
- Ooi, H., Inaba, C. & Kamiya, M. (1992). Experimental evaluation of mink and Apodemus speciosus in the Echinococcus multilocularis life-cycle in Hokkaido, Japan. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 28(3), 472-473.
- Persson, S. (2007). The Mink (*Mustela vison*) as an indicator of environmental reproductive toxicity. *Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala.*
- Pilbeam, T.E., Concannon, P.W. & Travis, H.F. (1979). The annual reproductive cycle of mink (*Mustela vison*). Journal of Animal Science 48(3), 578-84.
- Pridham, T. (1960). Pathological changes in mink fed diethyl-stilbestrol. Fur Trade Journal of Canada 37(11), 10-11, 14, 25.
- Prins, G.S. (2008). Endocrine disruptors and prostate cancer risk. *Endocrine-Related Cancer* 15(3), 649-656.
- Purdue, M.P., Engel, L.S., Langseth, H., Needham, L.L., Andersen, A., Barr, D.B., Blair, A., Rothman, N. & McGlynn, K.A. (2009). Prediagnostic serum concentrations of organochlorine compounds and risk of testicular germ cell tumors. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 117(10), 1514.
- Qiu, L., Zhang, X., Zhang, X., Zhang, Y., Gu, J., Chen, M., Zhang, Z., Wang, X. & Wang, S.-L. (2013). Sertoli cell is a potential target for perfluoroocatane sulfonate(PFOS)-induced reproductive dysfunction in male mice. *Toxicological Sciences*.
- Rahman, F., Langford, K.H., Scrimshaw, M.D. & Lester, J.N. (2001). Polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) flame retardants. *Science of the Total Environment* 275(1–3), 1-17.
- Ralph, J.L., Orgebin-Crist, M.-C., Lareyre, J.-J. & Nelson, C.C. (2003). Disruption of androgen regulation in the prostate by the environmental contaminant hexachlorobenzene. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 111(4), 461.
- Restum, J.C., Bursian, S.J., Giesy, J.P., Render, J.A., Helferich, W.C., Shipp, E.B., Verbrugge, D.A. & Aulerich, R.J. (1998). Multigenerational study of the effects of consumption of PCBcontaminated carp from Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron, on mink. 1. Effects on mink reproduction, kit growth and survival, and selected biological parameters. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health-Part a-Current Issues* 54(5), 343-375.
- Rider, C.V., Wilson, V.S., Howdeshell, K.L., Hotchkiss, A.K., Furr, J.R., Lambright, C.R. & Gray, L.E. (2009). Cumulative Effects of In Utero Administration of Mixtures of "Antiandrogens" on Male Rat Reproductive Development. *Toxicologic Pathology* 37(1), 100-113.
- Robaire, B. (1999). Androgens. In: Knobil, E., *et al.* (Eds.) *Encyclopedia of reproduction* Academic Press; 1).
- Robinson, J.J. (1996). Nutrition and reproduction. Animal Reproduction Science 42(1-4), 25-34.
- Roos, A. (2012). Uttern i Sverige Miljögifter, dödsorsaker och rapporter 2005-2011. *Naturhistoriska Riksmuseet*.



- Roos, A. (2013). The Otter (Lutra lutra) in Sweden: Contaminants and Health. Diss. Uppsala:Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Science and Technology 1051.
- Roos, A., Greyerz, E., Olsson, M. & Sandegren, F. (2001). The otter (Lutra lutra) in Sweden population trends in relation to Sigma DDT and total PCB concentrations during 1968-99. *Environmental Pollution* 111(3), 457-469.
- Roos, A.M., Bäcklin, B.-M.V., Helander, B.O., Rigét, F.F. & Eriksson, U.C. (2012). Improved reproductive success in otters (*Lutra lutra*), grey seals (*Halichoerus grypus*) and sea eagles (*Haliaeetus albicilla*) from Sweden in relation to concentrations of organochlorine contaminants. *Environmental Pollution* 170, 268-275.
- Roos, S. & Amcoff, M. (2010). Fågelfaunans utveckling i Uppsala läns skärgård efter införandet av jakt på mink (*Mustela vison*). Länsstyrelsens meddelandeserie 2010:04
- Rotander, A., van Bavel, B., Rigét, F., Auðunsson, G.A., Polder, A., Gabrielsen, G.W., Víkingsson, G., Mikkelsen, B. & Dam, M. (2012). Methoxylated polybrominated diphenyl ethers (MeO-PBDEs) are major contributors to the persistent organobromine load in sub-Arctic and Arctic marine mammals, 1986–2009. *Science of the Total Environment* 416(0), 482-489.
- Rothman, K.J. (1990). No adjustments are needed for multiple comparisons. *Epidemiology* 1(1), 43.
- Rush, G.F., Smith, J.H., Maita, K., Bleavins, M., Aulerich, R.J., Ringer, R.K. & Hook, J.B. (1983). Perinatal hexachlorobenzene toxicity in the mink. *Environmental Research* 31(1), 116-124.
- Sager, D.B. (1983). Effect of postnatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls on adult male reproductive function. *Environmental Research* 31(1), 76-94.
- Salo, P., Toivola, M., Nordstrom, M. & Korpimaki, E. (2010). Effects of home-range characteristics on the diet composition of female American mink in the Baltic Sea archipelago. *Annales Zoologici Fennici* 47(2), 111-122.
- SAS (2003). The GLM procedure: SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA. (SAS/STAT User's Guide.
- Sharpe, R.M. & Skakkebaek, N.E. (2008). Testicular dysgenesis syndrome: mechanistic insights and potential new downstream effects. *Fertility and Sterility* 89(2), e33-e38.
- Shi, Z., Zhang, H., Liu, Y., Xu, M. & Dai, J. (2007). Alterations in gene expression and testosterone synthesis in the testes of male rats exposed to perfluorododecanoic acid. *Toxicological sciences : an official journal of the Society of Toxicology* 98(1), 206-215.
- Sidorovich, V.E. (1993). Reproductive plasticity of the American mink (*Mustela vison*) in Belarus. Zeszyty Problemowe Postepow Nauk Rolniczych 38(2), 175-183.
- Skakkebæk, N.E., Rajpert-De Meyts, E. & Main, K.M. (2001). Testicular dysgenesis syndrome: an increasingly common developmental disorder with environmental aspects: Opinion. *Human Reproduction* 16(5), 972-978.
- Socha, S., Kołodziejczyk, D., Kondraciuk, E., Wójcik, D. & Gontarz, A. (2010). Analysis of factors influencing fur quality in minks of standard, pastel, platinum and white Hedlunda colour strains. Lucrări Științifice-Zootehnie şi Biotehnologii, Universitatea de Științe Agricole şi Medicină Veterinară a Banatului Timişoara 43(2), 268-271.

- Soto, A.M., Sonnenschein, C., Chung, K.L., Fernandez, M.F., Olea, N. & Serrano, F.O. (1995). The E-SCREEN assay as a tool to identify estrogens: an update on estrogenic environmental pollutants. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 103(Suppl 7), 113.
- Stapleton, H.M., Brazil, B., Holbrook, R.D., Mitchelmore, C.L., Benedict, R., Konstantinov, A. & Potter, D. (2006). In Vivo and In Vitro Debromination of Decabromodiphenyl Ether (BDE 209) by Juvenile Rainbow Trout and Common Carp. *Environmental Science & Technology* 40(15), 4653-4658.
- The Stockholm Convention. (2010). The Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention *Ridding the world of POPs: A guide to the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants.* The United Nations Environment Programme.
- Stoker, T.E., Cooper, R.L., Lambright, C.S., Wilson, V.S., Furr, J. & Gray, L.E. (2005). In vivo and in vitro anti-androgenic effects of DE-71, a commercial polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) mixture. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 207(1), 78-88.
- Stoker, T.E., Laws, S.C., Crofton, K.M., Hedge, J.M., Ferrell, J.M. & Cooper, R.L. (2004). Assessment of DE-71, a commercial polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) mixture, in the EDSP male and female pubertal protocols. *Toxicological Sciences* 78(1), 144-155.
- Sundqvist, C. (1987). Male Infertility in Mink Breeding: Department of Biology, Åbo Akademi. ISBN 9789516493377.
- Sundqvist, C., Amador, A.G. & Bartke, A. (1989). Reproduction and fertility in the mink (Mustela vision). Journal of Reproduction and Fertility 85(2), 413-41.
- Sundqvist, C., Ellis, L.C. & Bartke, A. (1988). Reproductive Endocrinology of the Mink (Mustela vison). Endocrine Reviews 9(2), 247-266.
- Sundqvist, C., Lukola, A. & Valtonen, M. (1984). Relationship between serum testosterone concentrations and fertility in male mink (*Mustela vison*). *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* 70(2), 409-412.
- Swan, S.H., Elkin, E.P. & Fenster, L. (2000). The question of declining sperm density revisited: an analysis of 101 studies published 1934-1996. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 108(10), 961.
- Söderström, G., Sellström, U., de Wit, C.A. & Tysklind, M. (2004). Photolytic debromination of decabromodiphenyl ether (BDE 209). *Environmental Science & Technology* 38(1), 127-132.
- Tashiro, S. & Matsumura, F. (1978). Metabolism oftrans-nonachlor and related chlordane components in rat and man. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 7(1), 113-127.
- Teuten, E.L. & Reddy, C.M. (2007). Halogenated organic compounds in archived whale oil: A pre-industrial record. *Environmental Pollution* 145(3), 668-671.
- Teuten, E.L., Xu, L. & Reddy, C.M. (2005). Two Abundant Bioaccumulated Halogenated Compounds Are Natural Products. *Science* 307(5711), 917-920.
- Torres-Sanchez, L., Zepeda, M., Cebrián, M.E., Belkind-Gerson, J., Garcia-Hernandez, R.M., Belkind-Valdovinos, U. & López-Carrillo, L. (2008). Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene Exposure during the First Trimester of Pregnancy Alters the Anal Position in Male Infants. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1140(1), 155-162.
- Tseng, L.-H., Lee, C.-W., Pan, M.-H., Tsai, S.-S., Li, M.-H., Chen, J.-R., Lay, J.-J. & Hsu, P.-C. (2006). Postnatal exposure of the male mouse to 2,2',3,3',4,4',5,5',6,6'-decabrominated

diphenyl ether: Decreased epididymal sperm functions without alterations in DNA content and histology in testis. *Toxicology* 224(1–2), 33-43.

- Turusov, V., Rakitsky, V. & Tomatis, L. (2002). Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT): ubiquity, persistence, and risks. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 110(2), 125.
- Van den Berg, M., Birnbaum, L., Bosveld, A., Brunström, B., Cook, P., Feeley, M., Giesy, J.P., Hanberg, A., Hasegawa, R. & Kennedy, S.W. (1998). Toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) for PCBs, PCDDs, PCDFs for humans and wildlife. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 106(12), 775.
- Van der Schalie, W.H., Gardner Jr, H.S., Bantle, J.A., De Rosa, C.T., Finch, R.A., Reif, J.S., Reuter, R.H., Backer, L.C., Burger, J. & Folmar, L.C. (1999). Animals as sentinels of human health hazards of environmental chemicals. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 107(4), 309.
- Wan, H.T., Zhao, Y.G., Wong, M.H., Lee, K.F., Yeung, W.S.B., Giesy, J.P. & Wong, C.K.C. (2011). Testicular Signaling Is the Potential Target of Perfluorooctanesulfonate-Mediated Subfertility in Male Mice. *Biology of Reproduction* 84(5), 1016-1023.
- Vandenberg, L.N., Colborn, T., Hayes, T.B., Heindel, J.J., Jacobs, D.R., Lee, D.-H., Shioda, T., Soto, A.M., vom Saal, F.S., Welshons, W.V., Zoeller, R.T. & Myers, J.P. (2012). Hormones and Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals: Low-Dose Effects and Nonmonotonic Dose Responses. *Endocrine Reviews* 33(3), 378-455.
- Welsh, M., Saunders, P.T.K., Fisken, M., Scott, H.M., Hutchison, G.R., Smith, L.B. & Sharpe, R.M. (2008). Identification in rats of a programming window for reproductive tract masculinization, disruption of which leads to hypospadias and cryptorchidism. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 118(4), 1479-1490.
- Verreault, J., Gabrielsen, G.W., Chu, S., Muir, D.C.G., Andersen, M., Hamaed, A. & Letcher, R.J. (2005). Flame Retardants and Methoxylated and Hydroxylated Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers in Two Norwegian Arctic Top Predators: Glaucous Gulls and Polar Bears. *Environmental Science & Technology* 39(16), 6021-6028.
- WHO (2012). World malaria report 2012: World Health Organization. Geneva.
- WHO/UNEP (2013). State of the Science of Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals 2012. Geneva World Health Organization, United Nations Environment Programme.
- Viltforum (2009). Årsrapport 2007/2008 Viltövervakningen. Öster-malma: Swedish Association for Hunting and Wildlife Management.
- Wiseman, S.B., Wan, Y., Chang, H., Zhang, X., Hecker, M., Jones, P.D. & Giesy, J.P. (2011). Polybrominated diphenyl ethers and their hydroxylated/methoxylated analogs: Environmental sources, metabolic relationships, and relative toxicities. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 63(5–12), 179-188.
- Wolf, C., Lambright, C., Mann, P., Price, M., Cooper, R.L., Ostby, J. & Gray, L.E. (1999). Administration of potentially antiandrogenic pesticides (procymidone, linuron, iprodione, chlozolinate, p,p'-DDE, and ketoconazole) and toxic substances (dibutyl- and diethylhexyl phthalate, PCB 169, and ethane dimethane sulphonate) during sexual differentiation produces diverse profiles of reproductive malformations in the male rat. *Toxicology and Industrial Health* 15(1-2), 94-118.

- Voogt, P. & Brinkman, U.T. (1989). Production, properties and usage of polychlorinated biphenyls. *Halogenated biphenyls, terphenyls, naphthalenes, dibenzodioxins and related products. Amsterdam: Elsevier*, 3-45.
- Wren, C.D., Stokes, P.M. & Fischer, K.L. (1986). Mercury levels in Ontario mink and otter relative to food levels and environmental acidification. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 64(12), 2854-2859.
- Yeung, B.H., Wan, H.T., Law, A.Y. & Wong, C.K. (2011). Endocrine disrupting chemicals: Multiple effects on testicular signaling and spermatogenesis. *Spermatogenesis* 1(3), 231-239.
- Zhang, L., Liu, J., Hu, J., Liu, C., Guo, W., Wang, Q. & Wang, H. (2012). The inventory of sources, environmental releases and risk assessment for perfluorooctane sulfonate in China. *Environmental Pollution* 165(0), 193-198.
- Zhang, S., Bursian, S.J., Martin, P.A., Chan, H.M., Tomy, G., Palace, V.P., Mayne, G.J. & Martin, J.W. (2009). Reproductive and Developmental Toxicity of a Pentabrominated Diphenyl Ether Mixture, DE-71, to Ranch Mink (*Mustela vison*) and Hazard Assessment for Wild Mink in the Great Lakes Region. *Toxicological Sciences* 110(1), 107-116.
- Zschille, J., Stier, N., Roth, M. & Berger, U. (2012). Dynamics in space use of American mink (*Neovison vison*) in a fishpond area in Northern Germany. *European Journal of Wildlife Research* 58(6), 955-968.

Acknowledgements

The studies were performed at the Division of Reproduction, Department of Clinical Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU). Financial support was provided from SLUs Environmental Monitoring Programme.

This thesis would not have been possible without support and help from many people. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to:

Professor **Ulf Magnusson**, my main supervisor, for encouragement and inspiration and for introducing me to research and helping me to kill the right darlings. Thank you for always finding time to answer my e-mails and for enjoyable discussions on non-scientific topics.

Professor **Björn Brunström**, my co-supervisor, for reading my drafts with extreme thoroughness and always providing good answers to my questions.

Doctor **Britt-Marie Bäcklin**, my co-supervisor, for all help and very useful advice – without them this project would have been so much harder to get going. Professor **Bert van Bavel**, my co-supervisor, for valuable manuscript feed-back, especially on multivariate analyses, and for providing insight into the world of chemical analysis. Professor **Hans Kindahl**, my co-supervisor, for prompt manuscript feed-back and support.

My co-authors **Anna Rotander** and **Anna Kärrman**, for your expertise in chemical analysis and for putting in extra effort in analysing problematic mink samples.

The National Veterinary Institute is greatly acknowledged for helping in uncountable ways. Thanks to all staff at the Department of Pathology and Wildlife Diseases.

Professor **Nils-Gunnar Lindquist**, Kemikalieinspektionen, for valuable opinions on various aspects of the project.

Karin Selin-Wretling for performing excellent work on evaluating mink spermatozoa, Annika Rikberg for histological preparations and always helping me to find the right tools and equipment, the late Åsa Jansson for invaluable advice and Mia Tjernström for performing necropsies with me.

All **mink hunters**, especially **Sture Sundin** for inviting me to hunt mink and **Sven-Arne Ängwald** and **Sven-Gunnar Lunneryd** for providing so many mink carcasses.



En hel drös med folk har gjort mina år som doktorand till en oförglömlig tid! Avdelningen för reproduktion är en fantastisk arbetsplats med supertrevliga människor och jag vill tacka **var och en på hela avdelningen, inklusive alla som nyttjar samma fikarum**. Jag vill särskilt tacka alla som har undervisat mig i konsten att undervisa, på "lådakursen", "stogyn", "besättningutredning gris" och i andrologi.

Tack till Sussie Pettersson, Micke Rosenius och Anette Forsberg för administrativ hjälp, Kjell-Åke Ahlin för datorstöd, Nils Lundeheim för snabba svar på diverse statistikfrågor och Jane Morrell för mycket värdefull språkgranskning.



Flera personer har hjälpt mig med minkprojektet utanför själva doktorandstudierna, tack till Eva Aldén, Kalle Ljungvall, Mattias Norrby, Anne-Lie Blomström, och Trine Hammer Jensen.

Tack till alla doktorandkollegor, särskilt Anna-Maria Andersson, Anna Duse, Odd Höglund, Karin Jonasson, Denise Laskowski, Elisabeth Lindahl, Susanne Lindahl, Åsa Lundberg, Jonas Malmsten, Oskar Nilsson, Mattias Norrby, Theodoros Ntallaris, Kristina Osbjer, Fernando Saravia, Ola Thomson och Cecilia Wolff, för stöd, hjälp och roliga stunder på fikaraster, luncher, fredagsburgare, after work etc. Jag vill utnämna Kia Nordeus till den perfekta rumskompisen – tack för att du har förgyllt både arbetstimmar och fritid med diskussioner om allt från forskning och politik till småbarnsproblem och vampyrer. Även Johanna Lindahl och Branislav Lakic måste höjas till skyarna för att ha gjort doktorandtiden så mycket bättre.

Tack **Madeleine Rydell** för att du med din humor och omtanke hjälpt mig uthärda många arbetsdagar.

Alla vänner, även fast jag inte nämner er allihop med namn så tack för att ni är så bra!!

Stort tack till **Ewy** och **Owe**, jag är evigt tacksam för att ni hjälpt till på tusen olika sätt. Tack till **Linnea**, **Christer** och **Mirjam** för hjälp med barnen när tidspressen varit stor.

Simon, min käraste, tack för precis ALLT – det finns inget annat sätt att uttrycka det på. Utan ditt stöd hade det aldrig gått. Ingrid och Joar, mina ögonstenar, nu är mammas minkbok äntligen klar!

